Physiotherapy in primary care for working-age patients with early back and neck pain

Screening tools, interventions and outcomes

MALIN FORSBRAND DEPARTMENT OF ORTHOPAEDICS | CLINICAL SCIENCES, LUND | LUND UNIVERSITY



Physiotherapy in primary care for workingage patients with early back and neck pain

Screening tools, interventions and outcomes

Malin Forsbrand



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

by due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at Belfragesalen, BMC, Lund. Thursday February 27, 2020 at 13.00.

Faculty opponent Professor Margreth Grotle Oslo Metropolitan University, Department of Physiotherapy, Oslo, Norway

Organization Department of Clinical Sciences, Lun Orthopaedics Faculty of Medicine LUND UNIVERSITY	d	Document name DOCTORAL DISSERTATIO	N
		Date of issue: 2020-02-27	
Author(s) Malin Forsbrand		Sponsoring organization	
Physiotherapy in primary care for working-age patients with early back and neck pain Screening tools, interventions, and outcomes			neck pain
Screening tools, interventions, and outcomes Many people suffer from back and neck pain, and the condition affects both the individual, by causing pain and disability, and society, because of high costs caused by work disability and health care consumption. Clinicians need tools to identify patients at risk of poor outcome, in order to tailor interventions, and we need more knowledge about what interventions can promote work ability and also prevent long-standing disability. The overall aim of this thesis was to obtain deeper knowledge on health care interventions in primary care for working-age patients with acute or subacute back and neck pain, by studying screening tools, physiotherapy interventions and self-reported outcomes. Methods: Study I was a cross-sectional validation study where we compared the concurrent validity of the STarT Back Tool (SBT) and the ÖMPSQ-short form questionnaires, including psychometric properties and clinical utility, (n=315). Study II was a prospective psychometric validation study where we studied the predictive validity of the SBT for the outcomes work ability and health-related quality of life at long-term follow-up (n=238). Study III was a secondary analysis of self-reported function, health-related quality of life and work ability, in a prospective cluster- randomised controlled trial (WorkUp) with one-year follow-up (n=352). The intervention was a workplace dialogue (CDM) as an add-on to structured physiotherapy treatment. Study IV was a descriptive cohort study nested within the WorkUp trial where we described type and number of physiotherapy interventions provided for patients with neck and back pain at risk of work disability. We also examined whether patients in the intervention group received more occupational medicine interventions (n=343). Results/Conclusions: The correlations between the SBT and the ÖMPSQ-short scores were moderately strong for individuals with acute or subacute back and/or neck pain, and the SBT was feasible to use in clinical p			
This thesis has deepened the knowledge on health care interventions in primary care for working-age patients with acute or subacute back and neck pain. The Swedish STarT Back Tool, a brief screening tool designed for tailored interventions based on risk stratification/triage, has been validated for individuals with acute or subacute back and neck pain in primary care. Long-term effects of a workplace dialogue as an add-on to structured physiotherapy on self-reported measures have been evaluated. The broad spectrum of interventions used by primary care physiotherapists for patients with back and neck pain in working-age are described.			
Key words: back pain, neck pain, primary care, STarT Back Tool, validity, health-related quality of life, function, work ability, workplace intervention, physiotherapy interventions			
Classification system and/or index terms (if any)			
Supplementary bibliographical information			Language eng
ISSN 1652-8220Lund University, Faculty of Me Dissertation Series 2020:19		edicine Doctoral	ISBN 978-91-7619-879-7
Recipient's notes	Numbe	r of pages 111	Price
	Securit	y classification	

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Malin Forsbrand Date 2020-01-15

Physiotherapy in primary care for workingage patients with early back and neck pain

Screening tools, interventions and outcomes

Malin Forsbrand



Cover photo by Magnus Forsbrand

© Malin Forsbrand

Department of Orthopaedics Clinical Sciences, Lund Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden

ISBN 978-91-7619-879-7 ISSN 1652-8220 Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2020:19

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2020



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se

MADE IN SWEDEN

To my family

"People are human beings, produced by the society in which they live. You encourage people by seeing good in them"

Nelson Mandela

Table of Contents

Abstract	8
Svensk sammanfattning	
List of papers	
Description of contributions	
Thesis at a glance	
Abbreviations	
Definitions	
Rationale	
Background	
Back and neck pain	
Back and neck pain in primary care	24
Back and neck pain and work	
Aims	
Overall aim	
Specific aims	
Methods	
Setting	
Study design	
Study populations and procedure	
Interventions	
Instruments and outcomes	
Data analyses and statistical methods	49
Ethics	

Results	59
Concurrent validity of the STarT Back Tool and the ÖMPSQ-short questionnaire (Study I)	60
Predictive validity of STarT Back Tool for long-term health-related quality of life and work ability outcomes (Study II)	62
Long-term effects on function, health-related quality of life and work ability after structured physiotherapy including a workplace intervention (Study III)	66
Physiotherapy interventions in primary care for working-age patients with acute/subacute neck and back pain (Study IV)	70
General discussion	75
Risk assessment and stratified care in primary care	75
The effect of a workplace dialogue on self-reported outcomes	77
Physiotherapy interventions for patients of working-age with early neck and back pain	80
Methodological considerations	82
Summary and conclusions	85
Clinical implications	87
Future research	89
Acknowledgements	91
References	95

Abstract

Patients with back and neck pain are frequently seen in primary care, where they are directed to physiotherapy as first-line treatment. The condition affects both the individual, by causing pain and disability, and society, because of high costs caused by work disability and health care consumption. Clinicians need tools to identify, at an early stage, patients at risk of poor outcome, in order to tailor interventions. We also need more knowledge about what interventions can promote work ability and prevent long-term disability.

The overall aim of this thesis was to obtain deeper knowledge on health care interventions in primary care for working-age patients with acute or subacute back and neck pain, by studying screening tools, physiotherapy interventions and self-reported outcomes regarding function, health-related quality of life and work ability.

Methods: Study I was a cross-sectional validation study where we compared the concurrent validity of the STarT Back Tool (SBT) and the ÖMPSQ-short form questionnaires, including psychometric properties and clinical utility, for patients with acute or subacute back and/or neck pain (n=315). Study II was a prospective psychometric validation study where we studied the predictive validity of the SBT for the outcomes work ability and health-related quality of life at long-term follow-up (n=238). Study III was a secondary analysis of self-reported function, health-related quality of life and work ability, in a prospective cluster-randomised controlled trial (WorkUp) with one-year follow-up (n=352). The intervention was a workplace dialogue (CDM) as an add-on to structured physiotherapy treatment. Study IV was a descriptive cohort study nested within the WorkUp trial where we described type and number of physiotherapy interventions provided for patients with neck and back pain at risk of work disability. We also examined whether patients in the intervention group received more occupational medicine interventions (n=343).

Results and Conclusions: The correlations between the SBT and the ÖMPSQ-short scores were moderately strong for individuals with acute or subacute back and/or neck pain, and the SBT was feasible to use in clinical practice. We therefore suggest that SBT can be used in primary care to identify individuals with both back and neck pain at risk of long-term pain and disability. We found that the SBT also can be used to identify patients at risk for a poor long-term health-related quality of life and/or work ability outcome in a population with acute or subacute back and/or neck pain. We found no effect of the CDM, as an add-on to structured physiotherapy, on self-reported function, health-related quality of life and work ability (point prevalence) at the 12-months follow-up. All self-reported outcomes improved over time in both the intervention and the reference group. We found that patients with neck and back pain at risk of work disability were offered many different types of interventions in primary care, with physical exercise being the most frequently used treatment

category. Patients in the intervention group received more occupational medicineoriented interventions than patients in the reference group.

This thesis has deepened the knowledge on health care interventions in primary care for working-age patients with acute or subacute back and neck pain. The Swedish STarT Back Tool, a brief screening tool designed for tailored interventions based on risk stratification/triage, has been validated for individuals with acute or subacute back and neck pain in primary care. Long-term effects of a workplace dialogue as an add-on to structured physiotherapy on self-reported measures have been evaluated. The broad spectrum of interventions used by primary care physiotherapists for patients with back and neck pain in working-age are described.

Svensk sammanfattning

Besvär från rörelseorganen, framför allt från rygg och nacke är en av de vanligaste anledningarna till sjukfrånvaro i västvärlden. Patienter med dessa besvär utgör en stor andel av de som söker primärvården där fysioterapi ofta är första linjens vård. Rygg och nacksmärta kan orsaka nedsatt funktion och aktivitetsförmåga vilket ofta innebär en betydande förlust av livskvaliteten samt ekonomiska konsekvenser för individen och samhället. Det finns behov av att hitta lättanvända frågeformulär i primärvården som kan hjälpa vårdgivare, att i tidigt skede identifiera de som riskerar att få långvariga besvär och därmed kunna individanpassa och förbättra kvaliteten på vården. Vi behöver mer kunskap om vilka behandlingar som kan stärka arbetsförmågan och vilka behandlingar som bäst förhindrar att en akut episod av rygg- eller nacksmärta utvecklas till ett långvarigt besvär.

Det övergripande syftet med denna avhandling var att få ökad kunskap om interventioner i hälso- och sjukvården riktade till patienter i arbetsför ålder som söker för nack- och ryggbesvär i primärvården, genom att studera frågeformulär, fysioterapeutiska behandlingar och resultaten av dessa avseende självrapporterad funktion, arbetsförmåga och hälsorelaterad livskvalitet.

Studie I var en metodologisk studie där vi prövade ett nytt frågeformulär "STarT Back Tool" (SBT) genom att jämföra det med ett mer använt frågeformulär, "ÖMPSQ-kort". SBT används för att klassificera patienter enligt risk för långvariga ryggbesvär till tre olika riskgrupper baserat på modifierbara fysiska och psykosociala riskfaktorer. Tydliga åtgärdsstrategier har definierats för respektive riskgrupp och visat sig vara en kostnadseffektiv strategi inom primärvården. Vi undersökte hur de båda frågeformulären stämde överens med varandra samt de båda frågeformulärens kliniska användbarhet för patienter med akut eller subakut rygg och/eller nacksmärta (n=315). Resultatet visade att frågeformulären stämde bra överens (måttligt starkt) och att SBT var ett kliniskt användbart frågeformulär. Därför föreslår vi att SBT kan användas i primärvården för att identifiera individer med risk för långvarig smärta och nedsatt funktion.

Studie II var också en metodologisk studie (prospektiv, psykometrisk valideringsstudie) där vi prövade om SBT formuläret kunde användas till att prediktera hälsorelaterad livskvalitet och arbetsförmåga vid långtidsuppföljning (n=238). Resultatet visade att SBT också går att använda för att identifiera individer med akut eller subakut rygg- och nacksmärta som riskerar att få nedsatt arbetsförmåga och/eller hälsorelaterad livskvalitet på lång sikt. I och med att SBT nu prövats i svensk version kan det användas av vårdgivare för att kunna ge säkrare prognoser och därmed en mer skräddarsydd vård till varje enskild patient vilket i förlängningen kan ge både en tids- och en kostnadsbesparing för vården och ett snabbare tillfrisknande för patienten.

Studie III var en prospektiv randomiserad kontrollerad studie i primärvården med ett års-uppföljning som inkluderade 352 patienter med akut eller subakut smärta i rygg eller nacke (interventionsgrupp, n= 146 och referensgrupp, n=206). Studien analyserade sekundära utfall i WorkUp; självrapporterad funktion, hälsorelaterad livskvalitet och arbetsförmåga (mätt som punktprevalens). Interventionen var Arbetsplats Dialog för Arbetsåtergång (ADA) där den behandlande fysioterapeuten hade en dialog i flera steg med patienten och arbetsgivaren som komplement till strukturerad fysioterapi. Vi fann ingen ytterligare effekt av ADA, som tillägg till strukturerad fysioterapi, när det gäller självrapporterad funktion, hälsorelaterad livskvalitet och arbetsförmåga vid 12-månaders uppföljningen. Alla självrapporterade mått förbättrades över tid i både interventionsoch referensgruppen. I tidigare studier har ADA visat positiv effekt på arbetsförmåga (mätt som frånvaro från arbetet fyra veckor i rad) och att metoden är kostnadseffektiv.

Studie IV var en deskriptiv kohortstudie som utfördes inom WorkUp studien. I denna studien beskrivs typ och omfattning av de olika fysioterapeutiska behandlingarna som erbjöds patienter med rygg- och nacksmärta, med risk för sjukskrivning, inom ramen för WorkUp. Vi har också undersökt om patienterna som tillhörde interventionsgruppen fick fler arbetsplatsinriktade åtgärder (t. ex ergonomiråd) jämfört med patienterna i referensgruppen. Resultatet visade att flest behandlingar gjordes inom kategorin fysisk träning och nästan alla patienter i studien fick åtminstone en sådan behandling. Patienter som tillhörde interventionsgruppen fick fler arbetsplatsinriktade åtgärder jämfört med patienter som tillhörde interventionsgruppen.

Denna avhandling har fördjupat kunskaperna om interventioner i hälso- och sjukvården riktade till patienter i arbetsför ålder som söker för rygg- och nackbesvär i primärvården. Den svenska versionen av frågeformuläret STarT Back Tool har validerats och kan nu användas för individer med akut eller subakut rygg- och nacksmärta i primärvården. Långtidseffekterna av en arbetsplatsdialog som tillägg till strukturerad fysioterapi gällande självrapporterad funktion, hälsorelaterad livskvalitet och arbetsförmåga har utvärderats. Det breda spektrumet av behandlingar som fysioterapeuter använder för patienter med rygg- och nacksmärta i primärvården har beskrivits i denna avhandling.

List of papers

- I. Forsbrand M, Grahn B, Hill JC, Petersson IF, Sennehed CP, Stigmar K. Comparison of the Swedish STarT Back Screening Tool and the Short Form of the Örebro Musculoskeletal Pain Screening Questionnaire in patients with acute or subacute back and neck pain. BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders 2017;18(1):89.
- II. Forsbrand MH, Grahn B, Hill JC, Petersson IF, Post Sennehed C, Stigmar K. Can the STarT Back Tool predict health-related quality of life and work ability after an acute/subacute episode with back or neck pain? A psychometric validation study in primary care.*BMJ Open*. 2018;8(12):e021748.
- III. Forsbrand MH, Turkiewicz A, Petersson IF, Sennehed CP, Stigmar K. Long-term effects on function, health-related quality of life and work ability after structured physiotherapy including a workplace intervention. A secondary analysis of a randomised controlled trial (WorkUp) in primary care for patients with neck and/or back pain. Accepted for publication in Scandinavian Journal of Primary Health Care 2020-01-09.
- IV. Forsbrand MH, Grahn B, Petersson IF, Post Sennehed C, Stigmar K. Manuscript. Physiotherapy interventions for working age patients with acute/subacute back and neck pain in primary care – a descriptive cohort study. *In manuscript*.

Description of contributions

Paper I

•	
Study design	Malin Forsbrand, Birgitta Grahn, Jonathan C Hill, Ingemar F Petersson, Charlotte Post Sennehed, Kjerstin Stigmar.
Data collection	Malin Forsbrand
Data analyses	Malin Forsbrand, Birgitta Grahn, Ingemar F Petersson, Kjerstin Stigmar.
Manuscript writing	Malin Forsbrand
Manuscript revision	Malin Forsbrand, Birgitta Grahn, Jonathan C Hill, Ingemar F Petersson, Charlotte Post Sennehed, Kjerstin Stigmar.
Paper II	
Study design	Malin Forsbrand, Birgitta Grahn, Jonathan C Hill, Ingemar F Petersson, Charlotte Post Sennehed, Kjerstin Stigmar.
Data collection	Malin Forsbrand
Data analyses	Malin Forsbrand, Birgitta Grahn, Jonathan C Hill, Ingemar F Petersson, Kjerstin Stigmar, Mikael Åström.
Manuscript writing	Malin Forsbrand
Manuscript revision	Malin Forsbrand, Birgitta Grahn, Jonathan C Hill, Ingemar F Petersson, Charlotte Post Sennehed, Kjerstin Stigmar.
Paper III	
Study design	Malin Forsbrand, Aleksandra Turkiewicz, Ingemar F Petersson, Charlotte Post Sennehed, Kjerstin Stigmar.
Data collection	Malin Forsbrand
Data analyses	Malin Forsbrand, Aleksandra Turkiewicz, Ingemar F Petersson, Kjerstin Stigmar
Manuscript writing	Malin Forsbrand

Manuscript revision	Malin Forsbrand, Aleksandra Turkiewicz, Ingemar F Petersson, Charlotte Post Sennehed, Kjerstin Stigmar.
Paper IV	
Study design	Malin Forsbrand, Birgitta Grahn, Ingemar F Petersson, Charlotte Post Sennehed, Kjerstin Stigmar
Data collection	Malin Forsbrand, Birgitta Grahn, Charlotte Post Sennehed
Data analyses	Malin Forsbrand, Birgitta Grahn, Ingemar F Petersson, Kjerstin Stigmar
Manuscript writing	Malin Forsbrand
Manuscript revision	Malin Forsbrand, Birgitta Grahn, Ingemar F Petersson, Charlotte Post Sennehed, Kjerstin Stigmar

Thesis at a glance

	Study I	Study II	Study III	Study IV
Aim	To study the concurrent validity of the STarT Back Tool and the short form of the Örebro Musculoskeletal Pain Screening Questionnaire, including psychometric properties and clinical utility in a primary care setting.	To evaluate the predictive validity of STarT Back Tool on the outcomes health-related quality of life (HRQoL) and work ability at long-term follow-up.	To study the long- term effects of a workplace dialogue (CDM) in addition to structured physiotherapy regarding self- reported function, health-related quality of life and work ability.	To describe physiotherapy interventions provided for patients with neck and back pain at risk of work disability, and to examine whether patients in the intervention group received more occupational medicine interventions.
Study population	Acute/subacute BP and/or NP, 18-67 years, applying for physiotherapy in primary care, n=315.	Acute/subacute BP and/or NP, 18-67 years, applying for physiotherapy in primary care, n=238.	Acute/subacute BP and/or NP, 18-67 years, applying for physiotherapy in primary care, n=352.	Acute/subacute BP and/or NP, 18-67 years, applying for physiotherapy in primary care, n=343.
Design	Cross-sectional validation study.	Prospective psychometric validation study.	A secondary analysis of a C- RCT.	Descriptive cohort study.
Main results	The correlation for SBT and ÖMPSQ- short total scores was moderately strong (0.62, p<0.01). Classification showed moderate agreement (x=0.42), SBT had fewer miscalculations (13/315) than the ÖMPSQ-short (54/315).	Statistically significant differences between all three SBT risk groups were found in HRQoL and work ability at follow-up (p<0.001). The proportion of patients with poor HRQoL and poor work ability at follow-up was significantly higher in higher risk groups.	The mean differences in outcomes between groups were small and not statistically significant. The intervention group improved function from 46.5 (SD 19.7) to 10.5 (SD 7.3)(FRI); HRQoL from 0.53 (SD 0.29) to 0.74 (SD 0.20)(EQ-5D) and work ability from 5.7 (SD 2.6) to 7.6 (SD 2.1) (WAS).	Physical exercise was most common (59.7%) and almost all patients (99.7%) received at least one intervention from this category. 81.7% of patients in the intervention group and 54.2% in the reference group received occupational medicine interventions (p<0.001).
Conclusions	SBT is clinically feasible to use in primary care for this patient group.	SBT can identify patients at risk for a poor long-term health-related quality of life and/or work ability outcome.	CDM had no added effect on self- reported function, health-related quality of life and work ability (point prevalence) in addition to structured physiotherapy alone.	Different interventions were provided, with physical exercise the most frequent.The intervention group received more occupational medicine-oriented interventions.

Abbreviations

AUC	Area under the curve
BP	Back pain
CDM	Convergence Dialogue Meetings
EQ-5D	EuroQol five-dimension
FRI	Functional Rating Index
ICF	International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health
HRQoL	Health-related quality of life
MMR	Multimodal/Multidisciplinary Rehabilitation
MSK	Musculoskeletal
MSP	Musculoskeletal Pain
NP	Neck pain
OR	Odds ratio
PROMS	Patient-reported outcome measures
RCT	Randomised controlled trial
SBT	STarT Back Screening Tool or STarT Back Tool.
WAI	Work Ability Index
WAS	Work Ability Score
ÖMPSQ	Örebro Musculoskeletal Pain Screening Questionnaire
ÖMPSQ-short	t Short form of the Örebro Musculoskeletal Pain Screening Questionnaire

Definitions

Acute/subacute	In this thesis, a pain duration of less than 12 weeks.
Back pain	In this thesis, back pain means low back pain or low back pain with pain from the thoracic region.
Concurrent validity	The degree to which the scores of a questionnaire are an adequate reflection of a 'gold standard' (1).
Function	Self-reported function was measured with the Functional Rating Index (FRI) (2).
Health-related quality of life	Self-reported health-related quality of life was measured with the EQ-5D-3L questionnaire (3).
Low back pain	Pain in the lower back is "pain and discomfort located below the costal margin and above the inferior gluteal folds, with or without leg pain" (4).
Neck pain	Neck pain is "pain located in the anatomic region of the neck with or without radiation to the head, trunk and upper limbs" (5).
STarT Back Tool	Synonymously with STarT Back Screening Tool where 'STarT' refers to Screening for Targeted Treatment. The STarT Back Tool is a brief prognostic tool that is specifically designed to help clinicians produce an index of treatment modifiable factors, to be used to stratify individuals into appropriate initial treatment pathways (6).
Treatment category	Physiotherapy interventions in this thesis were placed in five treatment categories: physical exercise, behavioural medicine interventions, manual therapy, occupational medicine interventions, and physical modalities (7).
Validity	The degree to which a questionnaire measures the construct(s) it is supposed to measure (1).
Work ability	Self-reported work ability, "current work ability compared with the lifetime best", was measured with Work Ability Score (WAS) which is the first single- item question from the Work Ability Index (WAI) (8).

Rationale

Back and neck pain is very common in the general population, and patients with these problems are often seen in primary care. The condition greatly affects the individual, by causing pain and disability, but also society, because of the high costs associated with work disability and health care consumption.

I have been working in primary care for many years and have met patients seeking treatment for back and neck pain. My experiences are that it is difficult for clinicians to prioritise between the large number of patients with different needs and complexity. Patients with complex needs are often identified too late, when the pain has already become chronic and the consequences for the individual have become severe. How can clinicians better identify and treat those who are at risk of poor outcome and maybe in need of more comprehensive interventions? How can clinicians better tailor interventions? Clinicians need useful tools that can guide them and their patients in the rehabilitation process.

In 2013, I was given the chance to become a PhD student within the WorkUp project and combine it with my work as a clinical physiotherapist. This combination gave me the opportunity to gain deeper knowledge on how we can improve and evaluate the care and treatment of patients with back and neck pain in primary care, and that formed the basis of this thesis.

Background

Back and neck pain

Prevalence, health care consumption and costs

Musculoskeletal pain (MSP), especially back pain and neck pain, is very common in the general population (9-12) causing disability for the individual and high costs for society. In 2015, the Global Burden of Disease Study reported that back and neck pain was the leading cause of years lived with disability in most countries worldwide (13). Between 2006 and 2016, the number of years lived with disability due to back and neck pain increased by approximately 20% (14), and the disability is most frequent in working-age groups (15).

Low back pain and neck pain are common among the adult population. The lifetime prevalence of low back pain is high, ranging between 51 and 84% (16). For neck pain, the lifetime prevalence is lower, ranging between 14 and 71% (10). The point prevalence is also higher for low back pain, ranging between 12 and 33% (11) compared to neck pain which ranges between 6 and 22% (10). In general, low back pain and neck pain are more common in women than in men (10, 11).

In European countries, individuals with back and neck pain constitute a large proportion of the users of primary care (17, 18). In 2012, 20-30% of the total number of visits to a general practitioner in Sweden were patients with MSP (19), and patients seeking treatment for back pain consume nearly twice as much health care as the general population (20). The consequences of MSP are large for both the individual, for health care and society, so it is important to obtain further knowledge about the treatment of working-age patients with back and neck pain in primary care.

Back pain and neck pain are one of the most common causes of work disability and sickness absence in the western world (21) and individuals presenting with these conditions are at higher risk of reduced work ability (22), decreased functional ability (23), and poor health-related quality of life compared to those without pain (24, 25). Low back pain and neck pain often occur together (26) further increasing the risk of sickness absence (27). Chronic pain is a major public health problem affecting around 19% of adult Europeans (28). Gustavsson et al. (29) estimated the total costs for patients with chronic pain to be EUR 32 billion per year, the

equivalent of about a tenth of the Swedish gross domestic product (29). The indirect costs for sick-leave and early retirement in Sweden constituted the largest cost component (59%) (29). It is therefore important to identify risk factors for work disability at an early stage (30) and to evaluate the effects of early interventions in primary care.

Definitions and aetiology of back and neck pain

Pain is defined by the International Association for the study of Pain (IASP) as:

"An unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with actual or potential tissue damage, or described in terms of such damage" (31).

Pain is an individual and subjective experience that can be described in different ways and that has both a sensory and an emotional part. The experience of pain can be described by three components; sensory, affective and cognitive (32). These components reflect the complexity of pain and the need to view pain from a biopsychosocial context. Pain is a personal and multidimensional phenomenon and cannot be compared between individuals (32). Pain is an important survival mechanism that is meant to protect our bodies from potential damage, and it is first when the acute pain does not resolve as expected and turns into long-standing pain that it becomes problematic.

For most individuals presenting with back pain, the specific nociceptive source cannot be identified (15). About 85% of all low back pain and neck pain is classified as nonspecific, where the underlying disease or pathology remains unknown (33). Specific pain is equivalent to pain attributed to a recognisable or a known specific pathology, and nonspecific pain is attributed to all other back and neck pain. In primary care, specific pathology is rarely found (34).

Back pain and neck pain are commonly defined by the location of pain, and there are many different definitions. Low back pain is commonly defined as "pain and discomfort located below the costal margin and above the inferior gluteal folds, with or without leg pain" (4) and neck pain as "pain located in the anatomic region of the neck (between the superior nuchal line and the spine of the scapula from behind and covering the throat from the front), with or without radiation to the head, trunk and upper limbs" (5). The term 'back pain' can sometimes mean only 'low back pain' and sometimes 'low back pain and pain in other parts of the back such as the thoracic and neck region' (35). In a Delphi study, the majority (82%) of experts from 12 countries, agreed on the 'back pain' definition to only mean pain in the lower back (= low back pain) (35). In this thesis, back pain means low back pain or low back pain with pain from the thoracic region.

Pain and pain experience can also be described based on duration: acute or long-term pain (chronic) (36). Acute pain refers to pain that arises due to an injury or

illness and normally disappears when the injury is healed (36). If the pain remains intermittent or persistent for more than three months, it is often described as long-term pain (36). In this thesis, patients with back and neck pain are described as having acute or subacute pain, with a pain duration of less than 12 weeks.

Although back and neck pain in general is classified as non-specific, pain can also be classified based on its aetiology; nociceptive, neuropathic, idiopathic and psychological pain (32). Acute and subacute back and neck pain is mainly nociceptive or neuropathic. Nociceptive pain is due to stimuli from the musculoskeletal system, such as muscles, bones, cartilage tissue, joints, ligaments, tendons or bursae (32). Neuropathic pain refers to pain due to damage of the nerve fibre (36).

There are also other systems for classifying pain. Woolf et al. (37) proposed a mechanistic pain classification system where pain is divided into two broad categories: adaptive and maladaptive pain. Adaptive pain refers to the normal reaction of an acute injury or promoting healing when an injury has already occurred (nociceptive or inflammatory pain), and maladaptive pain is a pathological process of the nervous system with no meaning for the healing process (neuropathic pain or functional pain) (37). Maladaptive pain plays a major role in chronic pain states and has also been referred as "pathological generalized pain" and "central sensitization syndrome (CSS)"(38).

If there are no indications that pain has either a nociceptive or a neuropathic aetiology, the pain can be classified as idiopathic (32). The cause of the pain remains unknown, but there are no signs of injuries or diseases. A possible explanation for this type of pain is a dysfunction in the neurological system; examples of such conditions are long-standing back pain and fibromyalgia (32). A third descriptor of such pain has been recently introduced, namely nociplastic pain (39).

In a systematic review, the authors found associations between low back pain and findings from MRI: disc bulge, disc extrusion, spondylolysis and also Modic type 1 change (40). Even though these associations were found, it is still not clear how we can use these findings from MRI in the rehabilitation and recovery from back pain.

Multifactorial causes, risk and prognostic factors

Back pain and neck pain can be seen as multi-factorial and different risk and prognostic factors are described. In general, such factors are more frequently described concerning back pain compared to neck pain.

Back pain is often seen as multi-factorial, with many different factors and mechanisms contributing to the cause and recurrence (41). Also neck pain can be seen as having multifactorial causes (42). In a recent model, Hartvigsen et al. (15) presented different factors that can contribute to back pain and disability:

biophysical, comorbidities, genetic, social, and psychological factors. Therefore a biopsychosocial approach can be applied to capture the complexity of back and neck pain. In recent decades, the biopsychosocial model has become a dominant model in the conceptualisation of the aetiology and prognosis of back pain (43). The model can be applied also for neck pain (42). The first model was developed already in 1977 (44), and various models have been developed (45) (46) over the years. The biopsychosocial approach of pain posits that biological, psychological and social factors influence who develops chronic pain and that the chronic pain has biological, psychological and social consequences (42). As both back and neck pain can be seen from a biopsychosocial perspective with multifactorial causes (41, 42) also treatment should be multifactorial with a combination of physical and psychological therapies that pay attention to mechanisms at work or in daily living that may exacerbate the injury and delay the recovery thereof (41).

The International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF, WHO 2001) (47) is a generic conceptual model that is widely used which can guide clinicians in both assessment and treatment of patients with back and neck pain. The framework is based on the biopsychosocial model. The ICF illustrates that an individual's disability and functioning arise from the reciprocal interactions between a health condition and contextual factors. The conceptual model can also support pain rehabilitation, where the physiotherapist together with the patient can set achievable goals (48).

Back pain should be looked upon as a long-standing condition, with different trajectory patterns, rather than single episodes (49). This starting point indicates the importance of being aware of various prognostic factors that can have considerable impact of the course of disease. The term 'prognosis' refers to the risk of future health outcomes in people with a given disease or health condition (50). Patients with different regional pains often share similar underlying attributes, source of symptoms and prognostic factors (51). Artus et al. (52) found that e.g. high pain intensity, widespread pain, high functional disability, somatisation, movement restriction and presence of previous pain episodes are generic prognostic factors for several musculoskeletal conditions (including back and neck pain) in primary care (52). The severity of functional disability and pain can therefore contribute to more long-standing disability for patients with both back and/or neck pain (53, 54).

Cognitive functioning and increased psychological or psychosocial stress can also affect the prognosis (53, 55). Being depressed or suffering from anxiety is associated with a worse outcome. Pain catastrophising (56), fear avoidance beliefs and self-doubts about the ability to influence the condition (self-efficacy) (57) can also contribute to more long-standing problems, even though we cannot fully understand these associations. The fear-avoidance model (58), which describes how fear of pain leads to the avoidance of activities and to disability, is commonly applied to musculoskeletal pain, e.g. back pain. Today this model also includes pain cognitions, which are found to be important for the development of long-standing

pain and disability. Pain cognitions include both thinking and behavioural aspects. Psychosocial risk factors play a key role in the transition from acute to chronic pain and the development of long-term disability (59-62).

Personal characteristics, such as being older or having poor general health, have a negative impact on the outcome of the disability (53), and societal factors such as low education and income also have a negative influence on the outcome of the disorder (63). Physical inactivity and high body mass index (BMI) have shown to be associated with an increased risk of chronic pain in the low back and neck/shoulders in the general adult population (64).

Well-known physical factors in different type of occupations and in the work environment, such as physically demanding work, can impact the start and maintenance of back pain (53). It is not only physical factors that are important; social relations at work and the psychosocial work environment in general are also important to consider (53, 65).

Clinical course and prognosis

Most individuals with new episodes of back and neck pain usually improve rapidly, and many studies show that most of the pain will resolve within a few weeks (66-68) but with little change in pain thereafter (66). In a systematic review of the prognosis of acute low back pain, rapid improvements were also seen for disability and return to work within one month (69). In a study of acute low back and neck pain in the general population, it was found that the pain remained unchanged over the follow-up year for individuals who had equal pain in the neck and low back areas at baseline and for those reporting four or more pain sites at baseline (66). The same study also reported that only 20% of individuals with acute neck and low back pain seek health care for their complaints (66).

Although most individuals with an acute episode of low back or neck pain have good prognosis, more than a third of patients will still have symptoms and recurrences one year later (42, 70). Having more than two previous episodes of low back pain triples the odds for future recurrences (70). For some individuals, the pain becomes persistent and disabling (71). In a Swedish cohort of individuals seeking care for nonspecific low back pain or NP, about half of the population reported pain and disability five years after onset (72). Evidence is mounting that back pain (BP) should be treated more like a long-lasting condition with a variable course and different trajectory patterns rather than unrelated episodes (15, 49).

Back and neck pain in primary care

Patients with back and neck pain are often seen in primary care (73). In Sweden, patients with musculoskeletal complaints are directed by triage to physiotherapists rather than to general practitioners. Patients can also apply directly to physiotherapy without a referral. This is called direct access and is widely used globally and means that the physiotherapist is generally the first professional that examines the patient. This triage method is considered safe for the patient and cost-effective (74, 75). If the patient needs a referral to imaging, a sick leave note or prescription of an anodyne drug, a physician must be seen. In a recent systematic review on how patients with back pain are treated by GPs or in emergency units, the authors found that less than 20% of patients with low back pain that saw a GP received evidence-based treatment for their back pain, and also found an overuse of referrals to imaging and opioid prescriptions (76).

The evidence of the effectiveness of different interventions is often summarised in clinical guidelines, and many guidelines recommend similar approaches for the assessment and management of low back pain (77). Non-pharmacological pain management is recommended as first-line treatment in guidelines for spinal pain, and a biopsychosocial framework should guide management (77-79). For the diagnostic procedure of patients with low back pain, evidence-based guidelines recommend considering the medical history and a physical examination to identify 'red flags', neurological testing to identify radicular pain, no routine use of imaging (unless there are signs of serious pathology present), and assessment of psychosocial factors ('vellow flags') (80). Guidelines recommend staying active, reassurance on the favourable prognosis, training that supports self-management, return to work, encouraging physical activity and avoiding bed rest as first-line care for all patients with low back pain (77, 78). For patients with persistent symptoms or patients who are judged to be at higher risk of poor outcome, a more complex and intensive treatment is recommended, including exercise therapy and psychological programmes (77, 78). For patients with neck pain, the same treatment strategy can be applied (79, 81).

In general, guidelines recommend prudent use of medication, imaging, and surgery (77, 78). A recent guideline review (78) identified two different approaches to guide the management of low back pain. Firstly, the traditional approach, which divides patients according to acute, subacute or chronic pain. Clinicians use a 'stepped-care approach', which begins with simple therapies and only progresses to more complex treatments if the treatments are not sufficiently effective. This approach commonly features in US (82) and Danish guidelines (83). Secondly, a newer approach, where clinicians use short-risk prediction tools to match patients to treatment packages based on their risk of poor clinical outcome, e.g. the STarT Back Tool (84), the ÖMPSQ-short form (85) or PICKUP (86) used in the UK, NICE (87), and Belgian guidelines (88).

A wide range of treatment options is available for patients with back and neck pain in primary care (51, 80, 81) but there is insufficient knowledge about which treatment is the optimal intervention for preventing an acute back or neck pain episode from becoming chronic (89).

Risk assessments of patients with back and neck pain

Evidence-based treatment includes screening for serious pathology (90) (red flags), for psychosocial risk factors (yellow flags) (91) and for work-related psychosocial risk factors (blue flags) (92, 93). Red flags may include severe pain, back pain starting in older age (>65 years for men, >75 years for women), a previous accident that caused the pain, constant or worsening of pain, history of malignancy, steroid use, drug abuse, severe mobility limitations, increased pain after movement, weight loss, problems urinating, visible deformity, sensitivity loss in groin and inside thighs, loss of sphincter control, or severe muscle weakness and walking difficulty (90, 94). It is also important to identify whether there are signs of an inflammatory joint disease, such as successive onset after age 40, persistent joint stiffness, joint stiffness in the morning, distal joints also affected, inflammatory processes in the eyes, or heredity (95, 96).

Yellow flags are "a set of psychological and social risk factors involving maladaptive cognitions and beliefs about the pain and the consequences of pain related to work and daily activities" (97), and cover aspects such as beliefs about the condition and pain, coping, self-efficacy and fear avoidance (91, 98). Blue flags address conditions at work that can contribute to the development of different disabilities (92).

Red flags are examined both by physicians and physiotherapists, to identify whether a severe condition is present and whether there is need for immediate treatment. Yellow flags do not need such urgent attention but are important to examine as soon as possible, to prevent long-term pain and disabilities. In recent years different risk stratification tools to examine yellow flags have emerged to help and support clinical decision making in primary care, to prevent long-term pain and disabilities.

Screening tools for yellow flags

The Örebro Musculoskeletal Pain Screening Questionnaire (ÖMPSQ) is a screening questionnaire developed to assist in the early identification of yellow flags and patients at risk of developing work disability (measured as sickness absenteeism) due to the pain (99, 100). The ÖMPSQ is one of the most widely used screening questionnaires, and several studies demonstrate the utility of the ÖMPSQ, both in research and clinical settings (97, 99, 101-103). The ÖMPSQ with 25 items has satisfactory psychometric properties and has demonstrated the ability to predict

long-term pain, disability and sick leave outcomes for patients with acute or subacute spinal pain (102, 104).

A short form of the ÖMPSQ (ÖMPSQ-short) with ten items was constructed to further increase the clinical utility of the ÖMPSQ (85). The short form was validated against the long form in two samples of people with musculoskeletal pain – one occupational health care population and one primary care population. The correlation between the short and long form was 0.91, and the receiver operating characteristic curve (ROC) was nearly identical for the long and short versions of the questionnaire for both the primary care population (0.84 vs 0.81) and the occupational sample (0.72 vs 0.70). The authors conclude that the ÖMPSQ-short can be used for identifying patients with work disability as measured by sick leave in both settings (85).

The STarT Back Tool (SBT) (https://startback.hfac.keele.ac.uk/) is a short risk stratification tool specifically designed for primary care settings comprising nine questions on predictors for long-term disabling back pain, enabling individuals to be matched with appropriate targeted treatments, according to their prognostic profile (6). The SBT was developed to classify patients with nonspecific LBP into one of three prognostic groups, low, medium or high risk for long-term pain and disability, with the high-risk group characterised by psychosocial prognostic factors. Matched treatments are defined and linked to each of the risk groups (Figure 1). Patients at low risk of poor outcome are directed to supported self-management, education and advice, including pain relief and encouragement to stay active, and are also informed about an overall good prognosis (treatment A). Those at medium risk are offered evidence-based physiotherapy interventions such as manual therapy and exercise (treatment B). For those at high risk, a combined physical and psychological intervention is offered (treatment C) (105). The SBT exemplifies stratified care (106) based on prognostic subgrouping and matched treatments. Patients at high risk of poor outcome are offered a more extensive treatment while those at low risk of poor outcome can be reassured and offered minimal treatment. The overall aim of stratified care is to optimise treatment response, increase healthcare efficiency and reduce unnecessary harm by offering the right treatment to the right patient at the right time (106). Stratified care has now become a clear research priority (107, 108).

Using the SBT together with targeted treatment has shown improved efficiency in terms of patients' clinical outcomes and cost-effectiveness in the UK (the STarT Back trial), primarily due to reductions in disability, health-care costs and work absence (84, 109). The STarT Back risk stratification approach has been tested and implemented in family practice and the IMPaCT back study (Implementation to Improve Patient Care through Targeted Treatment) replicated the findings of the STarT Back trial (110).

Matched treatment Treatment C Treatment B Medium risk Low risk Complexity

Figure 1.

The STarT Back Tool is a subgrouping tool that allocates patients into low-, medium- or high risk of long-term pain and disability in order to guide decision making about treatment and referral. There are matched treatments defined and linked to each of the risk groups. Reprinted with permission from the author (J Hill)

The discriminant validity, internal consistency, repeatability and predictive validity of the SBT were assessed in a sample of participants with nonspecific back pain in a UK primary care population (6). The SBT showed ability to identify individuals with poor back-specific disability (measured by the Roland and Morris Disability Questionnaire, RMDQ) at six months (6). The psychometric properties of SBT have been tested in several countries and it is now used in a number of different international settings (111-118). The SBT has previously been cross-culturally adapted and validated in Swedish in a small low back pain population (n=62) (119).

The UK National Institute for Health and Care Excellence guidelines recommend using brief questionnaires to identify individuals of poor outcomes and stratify care (87), but such tools are lacking for use in primary care. There is also a need to further develop and test evidence-based and practically useful methods for the biopsychosocial assessment of back pain (120). The SBT has earlier been compared with the ÖMPSQ-short for patients with low back pain (115,119,121) but not yet for a large primary care population with patients applying for physiotherapy treatment due to both back pain and neck pain. The SBT is developed and validated to predict future disability due to back pain of any duration (6, 112,113,122,123) but it has not yet been studied for the outcomes of HRQoL and work ability for a population with acute or subacute back and neck pain in primary care.

SBT has been further developed (124), and the Keele STarT MSK tool, which covers a wider range of musculoskeletal conditions (e.g. back pain, neck pain, shoulder pain, knee pain and multisite pain), has recently been validated (125). A

study has also investigated the most appropriate primary care treatment options for MSK patients stratified according to prognostic risk (126). A randomised controlled trial, the STarT MSK Trial is currently testing whether matching treatments to the different categories of risk for these conditions is better than usual treatment (https://www.keele.ac.uk/startmsk/).

Physiotherapy interventions for back and neck pain

Physiotherapy

The World Confederation for Physical Therapy (WCPT) describes physiotherapy as "services that develop, maintain and restore people's maximum movement and functional ability" with the goal to maximise people's quality of life and movement potential by looking at physical, psychological, emotional and social wellbeing" (127). The definition of physiotherapy includes the promotion of health and wellbeing and prevention of impairments, activity limitations, and participation restrictions. Physiotherapists strive to increase function, reduce pain, and set goals that can be both functional or activity-based depending on the patients' needs, and the physiotherapist often takes into account personal factors such as lifestyle, coping styles and fear avoidance beliefs.

The physiotherapy process includes examination/assessment, evaluation, diagnosis, prognosis/plan, intervention/treatment and re-examination. Physiotherapists also make recommendations for self-management and provide consultation within their area of expertise, and decide when patients need to be referred to another healthcare professional (127). Physiotherapists in Sweden practice autonomously and choose the appropriate interventions based on the examination/assessment of the patient. The methods used should always be based on evidence-based practice, which means that the physiotherapist integrates the best available external research findings with the individual's clinical expertise and patient preferences (128).

Physiotherapy interventions can be offered either as a single intervention or as part of a more complex intervention, or rehabilitation together with other health care professionals, i.e. multimodal rehabilitation. Physiotherapists may provide many different interventions for patients with back and neck pain, which may include counselling, coaching, pain management, training, therapeutic exercise and different types of manual therapies with the aim of maintaining or improving functional limitations or disabilities (127) (Figures 2-4). Physiotherapists in primary care in Sweden use many different interventions for patients with acute or subacute back and neck pain, the most common being advice on posture and staying active, and different types of exercises (129).



Figure 2. The physiotherapist gives information and advice. Photo: Region Blekinge

Physical exercise

Physical exercise is a fundamental treatment method in physiotherapy and is a commonly used intervention for treating back pain and neck pain (130,131). Physical activity is defined as "any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that require energy expenditure" (132). The term physical exercise is a subgroup of physical activity and is planned, structured, repetitive and purposeful in the sense that the improvement or maintenance of one or more components of physical fitness is the objective (133). Different types of exercises can be applied, e.g. stabilisation exercises (134) or McKenzie exercises (135, 136) which are treatment methods that have shown moderate strength of evidence for improving acute or subacute low back pain (129). For patients with chronic and recurrent low back pain, motor control exercises have been shown to be superior to general exercises (137). Although there is strong evidence that exercise therapy has beneficial effects on short and long-term pain for musculoskeletal conditions (51), there is no evidence that one specific exercise is more effective than another (51).

Advice and counselling on physical activity can be delivered by different health care professionals, such as physiotherapists, through 'physical activity on prescription' (PAP). This is a concept for promoting physical activity to enhance health and promoting prevention for individuals with a high risk of developing lifestyle-related diseases due to inactivity (138). PAP is an individual written prescription of physical activity that all licensed physiotherapists and healthcare providers in Sweden are recommended to use to prevent and treat illness.



Figure 3. Instruction on physical exercise. Photo: Region Blekinge

Manual therapies

Manual therapies are methods used to reduce pain and to restore joint function and range of movement. For patients with acute/subacute neck pain, cervical mobilisation or manipulation have been shown to have a moderate level of success compared with placebo or other treatments (139) and a combination of these interventions with exercises are recommended (140). For patients with acute or persistent low back pain, spinal manipulation is recommended as a second-line treatment or as an adjunctive treatment option in other therapies (77). Massage (in this review defined as soft-tissue manipulation using the hands or a mechanical device) can also be used for pain relief (141).Traction is another manual technique commonly used by physiotherapists and is often supplemental to other interventions, but the efficacy of traction has been questioned in systematic reviews for both neck and back pain (142, 143).



Figure 4. Manual mobilisation of the lumbar spine. Photo: Region Blekinge

Physical modalities

Other methods can be used for relieving pain, such as physical modalities, acupuncture, transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS), ultrasound, taping and ice/hot packs, which have shown varying degrees of evidence of effectiveness (51, 77, 144). However, acupuncture is recommended for persistent low back pain in most guidelines (145) and heat therapy has shown to be beneficial in acute low back pain (77).

Multimodal rehabilitation

The physiotherapist is an important and vital part of multimodal rehabilitation or multidisciplinary rehabilitation (MMR). This includes physical and behavioural and/or psychological interventions recommended for patients with persistent pain, especially patients with high levels of disability or distress (145). These interventions are often group-based and include education and training in different psychological techniques to improve coping with pain and also physical interventions to improve health (146). MMR is team-based and involves different professionals, such as physician, physiotherapist, psychologist and occupational therapist, and the patient is also part of the team (147).

Many different MMR programmes have been evaluated. and there is some evidence that MMR is effective in relation to return to work (148,149) and also cost-effective for patients with neck and back pain (150). However, Kuoppala et al. (151) concluded that workplace interventions must be integrated with rehabilitation to be effective in the long term (151). Patients with musculoskeletal disorders (mainly back and neck pain) who have been offered MMR in a national rehabilitation

programme in Sweden significantly improved their health-related quality of life and functional ability after MMR rehabilitation, especially those who were not on sick leave or had no disability pension the year before rehabilitation (152). Factors such as earlier periods of sick leave/disability pension, problems with exercise tolerance functions or mobility after rehabilitation were negatively associated with sick leave at follow-up (152). Advice to remain active and specific education about the condition is an essential part of physiotherapy treatment for all patients with back and neck pain, regardless of pain duration (77, 81).

Ergonomic advice

Physiotherapists can give ergonomic advice as a complementary intervention to other physiotherapy interventions. The advice can be linked to risk factors such as bent and twisted torso, repetitive work, static postures, work over shoulder height or below knee height, heavy lifting (including pulling and pushing) (153-156). Ergonomic advice aims to reduce these risk factors by providing advice on work technology, new equipment or other workplace designs. Ergonomic advice and ergonomic interventions are commonly used by physiotherapists and are often applied in treating work-related neck pain (157,158) but ergonomic advice has been shown to be sparingly used for patients on sick leave (159).

Back and neck pain and work

In general, work is good for health (160), giving structure to our daily lives, providing us with a salary, generating social relationships, and promoting meaningful activities. Being unemployed or off work can result in poorer general health and higher health care and drug consumption (160). It is therefore important to support patients to remain at work or, if sick-listed, return to work. Patients with back and neck pain can, in general, continue to work, unless the work involves inconvenient working positions or strenuous work tasks. Heavy physical work or poor work environment is associated with decreased work ability (155). Psychosocial factors also play an important role for work ability (161). Perception of high demands and lack of control strongly impact work ability (155).

Work ability

The concept of work ability is described in different ways in the literature. Fadyl et al. (162) described six categories that contribute to work ability: physical functioning, psychosocial functioning, thinking and problem-solving skills, social and behavioural skills, work place factors, and factors outside the work place. Ilmarinen (163) described the "work ability house", where the concept is described

from an even broader perspective and includes different competences, values and attitudes and societal factors (164). In a broad review, Lederer et al. (165) conclude that work (dis)ability is generally seen as a relational concept, i.e. different factors on different levels that affect each other. This means that work ability should be seen in the context of contextual factors (165). How work ability is defined is important for legislation, but also for how we use different outcomes in research.

Work ability can also be seen as a continuum, where work ability varies during the life span (166). Different supportive and destructive factors occur and affect how work ability is experienced (166). In this model, Lindberg argues for the existence of a tipping point when work ability is so decreased that sick leave is necessary.

Work ability for the individual is always to be seen in the perspective of contextual factors, such as environmental factors (i.e. family, work, laws, cultural beliefs) and personal factors (i.e. age, gender, race, educational level, coping) (167).

Self-reported work ability is often used as an outcome in research on rehabilitation back to work (8, 168). Work ability can be seen as the individual's experience of their own ability to work and must not be synonymous with sick leave.

Sickness absence and presenteeism

If work ability is decreased due to sickness or disease, an individual can be placed on sick leave. This is verified in a medical certificate issued by a physician. In Sweden, The Social Insurance Agency makes the final decision on whether the individual can receive economic benefits, based on the medical certificate. During the first week of sickness absence, there is no need for a sick leave note, but absence after day eight requires this.

Different sociodemographic factors such as age, sex, marital status and area of residence are in general associated with increased risk for sick leave (169-172). Unhealthy living habits such as smoking, overweight and limited physical activity also increase the risk of sick leave (173,174). Factors in the work environment and job content also contribute to an increased risk of sick leave. These include strenuous work tasks, inconvenient working postures, heavy lifting and static workload (161, 175). There is also evidence that psychological factors, such as low level of control over the working situation, are associated with sick leave (172). Work-related psychosocial factors are also important, influencing work ability and sick leave (93).

Presenteeism is described in different ways in the literature (176), but can generally be seen as individuals who remain at work although they experience decreased work ability due to sickness (176). This means that an employee can experience both decreased work ability and different symptoms, but still decides to go to work. Haglund et al. (177) found that 45 percent of patients with spondyloarthritis experienced reduced work productivity (presenteeism) and that worse quality of life, disease activity, physical function, self-efficacy and depression were all associated with reduced productivity at work (177). The decision to go to work despite the pain can be based on feeling forced to work due to a heavy workload and solidarity to other employees, but may also be due to economic reasons.

Interventions that support return to work or remaining at work

Patients with back or neck pain often consult primary care for treatment (17, 18). Different types of medical interventions can be important in improving the disability but, in a systematic review, Cullen et al. (178) conclude that multi-domain interventions were strongly supported. The return to work was accelerated by combining medical and vocational rehabilitation interventions. The multi-domain interventions also encompass coordinating the different interventions. Tjulin et al. (179) emphasised the need for developing collaboration with different stakeholders, and contacts with the employer have been highlighted (180). In the SWAP trial, patients with MSP received vocational advice (181). The results showed that the patients in the intervention group were less absent from work, but there were no differences in how pain was experienced.

In conclusion, patients with back and neck pain often apply for health care in primary care and are directed to physiotherapy treatment. These patients often experience pain and decreased function, but also work ability limitations. To develop and improve how these patients are treated, we need further knowledge on how we can identify patients at risk for developing long-term pain and disability, and on how interventions can be tailored.
Aims

Overall aim

The overall aim of this thesis was to obtain deeper knowledge on health care interventions in primary care for working-age patients with acute or subacute back and neck pain, by studying screening tools, physiotherapy interventions and selfreported outcomes.

Specific aims

The aims of the individual papers were:

- I. To compare the concurrent validity of the STarT Back Tool and the short form of the Örebro Musculoskeletal Pain Screening Questionnaire, including psychometric properties and clinical utility, in a primary care setting.
- II. To evaluate the STarT Back Tool's predictive validity for health-related quality of life and work ability outcomes at long-term follow-up in a population with acute/subacute back and/or neck pain.
- III. To study the long-term effects of a workplace intervention in addition to structured physiotherapy regarding self-reported measures in patients with acute/subacute neck and/or back pain.
- IV. To describe physiotherapy interventions provided for patients with neck and back pain at risk of work disability and to compare if patients in the intervention group received more occupational medicine interventions.

Methods

Setting

The setting for all four studies was the WorkUp trial – a prospective cluster randomised controlled trial in primary care, including one-year follow-up (ClinicalTrials.gov ID: NCT02609750). All accredited and tax-financed, public and private primary care centres, in three regions in southern Sweden (Region Skåne, Kronoberg and Blekinge), were invited to participate in the study. A total of 32 primary care centres, linked to 20 primary care rehabilitation units including physiotherapy, agreed to participate. In Sweden, physiotherapy is first-line treatment for patients with musculoskeletal pain and no referrals are needed.

The 20 primary care rehabilitation units that declared an interest in participating in the WorkUp trial were classified on the basis of similar size (number of patients listed and community size of the units' location), the registered patients' morbidity (ACG-Adjusted Clinical Groups) and socioeconomic status (CNI-Care Need Index). The primary care rehabilitation units were then matched in pairs, based on the criteria above. Primary care rehabilitation units were then randomised pairwise into 10 intervention and 10 reference primary care rehabilitation units, with the randomisation process performed by an independent statistician. Each rehabilitation unit, and all physiotherapists working at the unit, were regarded as either an intervention unit or a reference unit, but never mixed. The staff of the primary care rehabilitation units (including physiotherapists) were therefore not blinded to allocation.

Patients were recruited to the study from January 2013 to December 2014. A total of 67 physiotherapists worked at the 20 rehabilitation units with patients included in the study. All physiotherapists engaged in the trial received continuous updates on evidence-based treatments.

The main objective of the WorkUp trial was to examine whether early and structured physiotherapy treatment, including a workplace dialogue as an add-on, can lead to improved work ability and health-related quality of life in patients with back and/or neck pain. All patients in the trial received structured physiotherapy treatment, including examination, assessment, diagnosis, and return visits to the physiotherapist at three-, six- and 12-month follow-up, where patient- and clinician-

reported outcomes were completed. All physiotherapy interventions were recorded during the study period.

Patients of working age (18-67 years) were consecutively recruited to the trial when they applied for physiotherapy due to an episode of acute or subacute (<12 weeks) back and/or neck pain. It could be either a first episode or a recurrent episode of back and/or neck pain, after a period of at least three months of no substantial pain. The patients were included if they had worked at least four consecutive weeks in the previous year, were considered at risk of sick leave (\geq 40 points on ÖMPSQshort) (85), had no long-standing sick leave (\leq 60 days) due to acute/subacute back and/or neck pain. Exclusion criteria were full-time disability pension, addiction diagnosis, ongoing medical treatment for an acute disease, pregnancy, or inability to understand the Swedish language.

Study design

All studies in this thesis were based on quantitative data. The four studies required different designs and methods according to the different aims and research questions. To study the concurrent validity of the SBT questionnaire against the ÖMPSQ-short, a cross-sectional design was used (study I). Study II examined the predictive ability of the SBT for self-reported outcomes at long-term follow-up, so was based on a prospective psychometric validation study. Study III was a prospective, cluster-randomised controlled trial, studying secondary outcomes at long-term follow-up of a workplace intervention (CDM), in addition to structured physiotherapy. The aim of study IV was to describe physiotherapy interventions provided for patients with neck and back pain in the WorkUp trial, and a descriptive design was therefore used. An overview of the studies is presented in Table 1.

Table 1.

Overview of the design, setting, participants, sample size, outcomes and analysis methods included in the studies.

	Study I	Study II	Study III	Study IV
Design	Cross-sectional validation study	Prospective psychometric validation study	Prospective cluster randomised controlled trial - a secondary analysis	Descriptive cohort study
Setting	Primary care rehabiliation units, WorkUp	Primary care rehabiliation units, WorkUp	Primary care rehabiliation units, WorkUp	Primary care rehabiliation units, WorkUp
Study population	Patients with acute/subacute back and/or neck pain applying for physiotherapy in primary care.	Patients with acute/subacute back and/or neck pain applying for physiotherapy in primary care.	Patients with acute/subacute back and/or neck pain applying for physiotherapy in primary care. All patients included in WorkUp	Patients with acute/subacute back and/or neck pain applying for physiotherapy in primary care. All patients included in WorkUp
Sample size	n=315	n=238	n=352 intervention n=146, reference n=206	n=343 intervention n=142, reference n=201
Instruments and Outcomes	STarT Back Tool and short form of Örebro Musculoskeletal Pain Screening questionnaire	STarT Back Tool HRQoL* (EQ-5D**) Work ability (WAS***)	Function (FRI****) HRQoL* (EQ-5D**) Work ability (WAS***)	Physiotherapy interventions
Analysis method	Descriptive statistics, non- parametric, Spearman's rank correlation, cross tabulation, Cohen's kappa	Descriptive statistics, non- parametric, Kruskal-Wallis, Chi square test for trend, logistic regression, area under the curve (AUC)	Descriptive statistics, parametric, linear mixed effect regression model	Descriptive statistics, Non-parametric, Chi-square test Mann-Whitney U test

*HRQoL=Health-related quality of life, **EQ-5D=EuroQoI five-dimensions, ***WAS=Work Ability Score (single-item question from Work ability Index, WAI), **** FRI= Functional Rating Index

Study populations and procedure

All patients in the four studies were included in connection with the WorkUp trial. Patients, 18-67 years, who applied for physiotherapy in primary care due to acute or subacute back and neck pain, who were not currently on sick leave or had no long-standing sick leave (≤ 60 days), and who had been working at least four weeks in the previous year were screened with ÖMPSQ short. Patients completed the SBT and the ÖMPSQ-short questionnaire during the first physiotherapy visit. The SBT and the results of the screening were not actively used to stratify care. If there were medical conditions requiring urgent need for medical care or examination (red flags) (90), patients were referred to a medical doctor without delay and not included in the studies.

Studies I and II (validation studies of the questionnaire STarT Back Tool) involved patients that were both included and not included in the WorkUp trial (scoring \geq 40 or <40 points respectively at ÖMPSQ-short), to ensure a broad sample. Studies III and IV only involved patients who were included in WorkUp trial (scoring \geq 40 points at ÖMPSQ-short).

Patient populations and time periods of the studies are presented in Figure 5.

Patients, 18-67 years, not on sick leave or sick leave \leq 60 days, worked \geq 4 weeks past year, who applied for physiotherapy in primary care due to acute or subacute back and neck pain 2013-01-01 – 2014-12-31. Screened with ÖMPSQ-short.

-	-	-	-
Study I n= 315 Patients who applied for physiotherapy 1 Jan 2013 – 1 Jan 2014 with complete data on SBT from baseline	Study II n= 238 Patients who applied for physiotherapy 1 Jan 2013 – 1 Jan 2014 with complete data on SBT from baseline and with complete follow-up data on WAS, EQ-5D and FRI Included in WorkUp: Intervention n=61 Reference n=99	Study III n= 352 Patients included in the WorkUp-trial ≥40 p at ÖMPSQ-short Intervention n=146 Reference n=206	Study IV n= 343 Patients included in the WorkUp-trial ≥40 p at ÖMPSQ-short and complete data on physiotherapy interventions during 12- smonth follow- up Intervention n=142 Reference n=201
	baseline and with complete follow-up data on WAS, EQ-5D and FRI Included in WorkUp: Intervention n=61	n=146 Reference	physiotherapy interventions during 12- smonth follow- up Intervention n=142 Reference
	Not included in WorkUp, treatment unknown n=78		

Figure 5.

Study populations in this thesis.

Studies I and II

In studies 1 and II, patients were consecutively recruited between January 2013 and January 2014 (Figure 5). Patients, 18-67 years, who applied for physiotherapy due to acute or subacute back and/or neck pain, who were not currently on sick leave or had no long-standing sick leave (≤ 60 days) and who had been working at least four weeks in the previous year were asked to participate. If there were medical conditions requiring urgent need for medical care or examination (red flags) (90), patients were referred to a medical doctor without delay and not included in the studies.

The questionnaires were scored by the physiotherapist according to the methods specified by the instrument developers (6, 100). The data from the SBT and the ÖMPSQ-short questionnaires was then manually entered into a SPSS 22.0 database and thoroughly checked and validated.

Patients in study I were excluded if they had any missing item on SBT and, for the $\ddot{O}MPSQ$ -short, missing items were treated as described by the original $\ddot{O}MPSQ$ (182), where one missing item was permitted. The physiotherapist's calculation of total score/subscore of SBT and total score of $\ddot{O}MPSQ$ -short were independently checked and errors corrected. All miscalculations were saved. Of the original sample, 329 patients completed the questionnaires. Three patients were excluded due to wrong age (<18 years, n=1, >67 years, n=2) and 11 patients were excluded because of missing items on the SBT questionnaires. The final sample for study I was 315/329 patients (96%) with complete baseline data from the SBT and $\ddot{O}MPSQ$ -short questionnaires (Figure 1), 62.5% females and 37.5% males.

For study II, we used the same sample as in study I (n=315) but the patients also required follow-up data on work ability and HRQoL. To obtain follow-up data for patients not included in the trial (n=78), questionnaires were sent out by post. The design of study II was not settled when patients were recruited to the WorkUp trial, so we needed informed consent from these patients who were not included to enable collection of follow-up data. We sent a total of 124 letters asking for consent, and 120 accepted.

We sent out questionnaires by post in May 2015 (median 22, range 16-27 months after baseline) to the consenting patients (n=120), and 67% (n=78) responded to the questionnaire on follow-up on work ability and HRQoL.

The analyses were restricted to those who had complete data for work ability (n=235) and HRQoL (n=238) at 12-month follow-up (Figure 1). Of these, 160 (67%) participants were females and 78 (33%) were males. The sample included patients included in the trial (intervention n=61 and reference n=99) and patients not included in the trial (n=78).

Study III

Study III involved patients that were included in the WorkUp trial (n=352) between 1 January 2013 and 31 December 2014 (Figure 5).

Patients who met the inclusion criteria were invited consecutively to participate in the study and were screened using the ÖMPSQ-short. No record was kept of the number of ineligible and non-consenting patients, or the reasons for this. After information verbally and in writing, 352 individuals (mean age 43.7 [SD 12.2] years, 65.3% women) were included in the trial after giving informed consent, 146 in the intervention group and 206 in the reference group. Patient-reported outcome measures (PROMS) on function, HRQoL and work ability were collected at baseline and at 3-, 6- and 12-month follow-up. At 12-month follow-up, 115 patients (79%) in the intervention group and 171 patients (83%) in the reference group had completed the self-reported questionnaires (Figure 6).

A dataset was compiled with baseline data, including type of treatment received (intervention or reference), age, sex, educational level, whether born in Sweden, whether on sick leave, ICD10 diagnosis, employment (yes/no), comorbidity (symptoms of anxiety and/or depression: yes \geq 8 points on 'HADS' (183) and symptoms of exhaustion (no, moderate or pronounced exhaustion, according to the 's-ED') (184), and PROMS from the questionnaires completed at baseline and 3-, 6- and 12-month follow-up.



Figure 6.

Flowchart of inclusion and follow-up of primary care rehabiliation units. Number and proportion of patients who completed the patient-reported outcome measures (PROMS) at follow-ups.

Study IV

Study IV involved patients that were included in WorkUp between 1 January 2013 and 31 December 2014 (Figure 5).

In the WorkUp trial there were 352 patients for whom the physiotherapists were supposed to record physiotherapy interventions during the treatment period. Of these, nine patients (four from the intervention group and five from the reference group) were excluded due to incomplete protocols, so this study was based on 343 patients (n=142 intervention group, n=201 reference group).

The physiotherapists recorded all interventions provided for each treatment visit (date) in a treatment protocol, which was kept in the patient's records and followed the patient throughout the treatment period. Each treatment visit could include more than one intervention.

The treatment protocol included 26 pre-defined intervention alternatives: Acupuncture, Relaxation training, Basic body awareness therapy, Circulation/Range of movement training, Ergonomic advice, Physical activity prescription (PaP), Advice on posture, Cardiovascular training, Laser therapy, Joint manipulation. Joint mobilisation, MDT/McKenzie therapy, Motivational interviewing, Nerve mobilisation, Advice to stay active, Stabilising training, Stress management, Muscle strengthening training, Shockwave therapy, Taping, Transcutaneous Electrical Nerve Stimulation (TENS), Traction, Trigger point pressure, Ultrasound, and Vibration training or Heat/cold. There was also an 'Other' option where the physiotherapist could add textual information about any other type of intervention not included in the alternatives.

The physiotherapist also recorded whether any orthosis or medical aids were recommended and when the treatment period started and ended. The records also showed if the patient was referred for treatment to other health care professionals or for team rehabilitation. The intention was to provide the physiotherapists with a protocol that covered commonly used interventions for this patient group in primary health care. The intervention options, which were not graded as more or less evidence-based, were written in alphabetical order. The protocol was developed by four physiotherapists, three of them with long-standing and ongoing clinical experience from treating patients with neck and back pain. One was also an experienced researcher.

A set of data was completed with the total number and type of interventions (26 and Other) for each patient during the whole treatment period. All data were manually entered into the database. Baseline characteristics of age, sex, educational level, ICD-10 diagnosis, whether on sick leave, and employment (yes/no) were merged from the main data set of WorkUp. All data were thoroughly validated.

Interventions

All patients included in the WorkUp trial received structured physiotherapy and, for the intervention group, a workplace dialogue was added.

At the first visit, all patients were examined by a physiotherapist. Signs of serious medical conditions (red flags) (90) and psychosocial risk factors (yellow flags) (91) were considered. If there were medical conditions requiring urgent medical care or examination, patients were referred to a doctor without delay. The patients completed a questionnaire with self-reported measures; these were also completed after three, six and 12 months. The structured physiotherapy treatment included examination, assessment, diagnosis, treatment and return visits to the physiotherapist at three-, six- and 12-month follow-up. The treatment was individualised in terms of content and duration according to needs and condition. Depending on patient needs and clinical assessments, other health care professionals could be engaged, e.g. a medical doctor, psychologist or an occupational therapist. Further referral to these professionals was based on ordinary clinical assessments, such as red and yellow flags. In the WorkUp trial, patients also received short, weekly text messages for one year, where they answered three questions on the impact of the acute/subacute neck and/or BP on work and leisure time (185). Patients were also asked to complete some clinician-reported measures at baseline and at follow-ups (data to be published).

Intervention group

In addition to the structured physiotherapy treatment, all patients in the intervention group were offered a workplace dialogue according to the Convergence Dialogue Meeting (CDM) method (186), as an add-on to the structured physiotherapy treatment. This method was originally developed for patients on long-term sick leave due to burnout syndromes (186). The CDM model consists of a three-step structured dialogue where the patient, the health care professional (in this case the physiotherapist) and the employer meet and together identify the needs for workplace adjustments. The dialogue was structured, with questions that focused on neck and/or BP in relation to work, and on possible or already implemented workplace adjustments.

The aim of the CDM was to find concrete suggestions and actions to support and maintain work ability or, if sick-listed, facilitate return to work. The physiotherapist first held an individual interview with the patient, which included asking the patient for consent to contact the employer. In the second step, the employer was invited to talk with the physiotherapist, either in person or by phone. In the third step, the patient and the employer were invited to a convergence meeting together with the physiotherapist. The final meeting, involving the patient, the employer and the physiotherapist, concluded with a written plan of action including suggested workplace adjustments and changes to the patient's everyday life habits. The plan could also include contacts with other stakeholders. The plan of action was then followed up in the return visits to the physiotherapist. Each step in the workplace dialogue meetings lasted approximately 30-60 min. All patients were offered the CDM, but there were differences in the number of steps involved. Ninety-one patients (62.3%) took part in at least the first two steps, i.e. interview I (physiotherapist and patient) and interview II (physiotherapist and employer).

Instruments and outcomes

Two screening instruments, The STarT Back Tool (SBT) (6) and the short form of the Örebro Musculoskeletal Pain Screening Questionnaire (ÖMPSQ-short) (85), were used. Four different patient-reported outcome measures were used – function (Functional Rating Index, FRI), health-related quality of life (EQ-5D), work ability (Work Ability Score, WAS) and physiotherapy interventions – with corresponding procedure codes in five different treatment categories. Figure 7 shows when the various instruments and outcomes were applied in the four studies.



Physiotherapy interventions

Figure 7.

When the screening instruments and outcomes were used. FRI, Functional Rating Index; EQ-5D, EuroQol fivedimensions; WAS, Work Ability Score; SBT, STarT Back Tool; ÖMPSQ-short, Short form of the Örebro Musculoskeletal Pain Screening Questionnaire.

STarT Back Tool

Baseline data from the StarT Back Tool was used in study I and study II. The SBT is a nine-item questionnaire with questions relating to modifiable physical (items 1-4) and psychosocial (items 5-9) risk factors for long-term disabling BP, designed to support clinicians in directing individuals to different levels of care (6). The SBT has three risk subgroups where patients are classified into low, medium or high risk for poor disability outcomes. The SBT produces two scores: an overall score and a psychosocial subscale score (6). The psychosocial subscale score is used to identify the high-risk group.

The SBT overall score ranges between 0 and 9. Items 1-4 concern referred leg pain, neck or shoulder pain, difficulties in walking and difficulties in dressing. Items 5-9 form the psychosocial subscale that screens for fear of physical activity, anxiety, pain catastrophising, depressive mood and overall impact from their BP. Items 1-8 have a dichotomous response option: "disagree" (0p) or "agree" (1p). Item 9 uses a 5-point Likert Scale from "not at all" to "extremely", where responses "very much" or "extremely" are counted as one point and the other responses as zero. A total score of \leq 3 points indicates low-risk group, a total score \geq 4 points in combination with <4 points on the psychosocial subscale (items 5-9) are medium-risk group, and a psychosocial subscale score of \geq 4 points indicates a high-risk group for poor disability outcomes (6).

Short form of the Örebro Musculoskeletal Pain Screening Questionnaire

The ÖMPSQ-short was used as an instrument for comparison (gold standard) with the SBT in study I. The ÖMPSQ-short is a ten-item questionnaire with questions about psychosocial risk factors for work disability due to pain (85). The ÖMPSQshort is based on the original ÖMPSQ (100) and covers two items from each of five concept areas: pain (items 1-2), self-perceived function (items 3-4), distress (items 5-6), return to work expectancy (items 7-8) and fear avoidance beliefs (items 9-10).

Item number 1 (duration of pain) has ten categories, ranging from 0 to 1 week to more than 52 weeks, scoring is from 1-10 points. Items 2-10 are rated from 0 to 10 point on a scale anchored by extremes, for example, "completely disagree" to "completely agree" or "no pain" to "pain as bad as it could be". Items 3, 4 and 8 have inverse scoring. A total score is calculated (range 1-100) where 1 to 50 points indicate low risk and 51 to 100 points indicate higher estimated risk for future work disability and higher levels of pain (85). In the WorkUp trial, we decided to choose a lower cut-off for inclusion (\geq 40 points on ÖMPSQ-short) because we wanted to include patients at risk of work disability at an early stage and clinically relevant for treatment in primary care.

Health-related quality of life - EQ-5D

Health-related quality of life (HRQoL) was measured in studies II and III using the EuroQol five-dimension (EQ-5D) questionnaire (3). We used the five question part of the EQ-5D where each question has three options. The EQ-5D is a widely used generic questionnaire (187,188) from which a single-index value of the respondent's health status can be derived, based on a health profile of three levels in five dimensions – mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort and anxiety/depression. The digits for the five dimensions are combined into a 5-digit number describing the respondent's health state (189). The 5-digit number is given a value between -0.59 and 1.0 where 1 corresponds to full health, and lower EQ-5D values reflect lower HROoL. In this thesis, the UK tariff was used (190). In study II, health-related quality of life was also dichotomised into 'poor' HRQoL (EQ-5D <0.6) and 'good' HROoL (EO-5D >0.6), based on a proposed cut-off for having sufficient capacity to work for a population with back and neck pain (191).

Work ability - WAS

In studies II and III, work ability was measured by self-reports using Work Ability Score (WAS) (164) which is the first single-item question ("current work ability compared with the lifetime best") from the widely used Work Ability Index (WAI) (8, 168). In a recent study of workers at risk of work disability due to previous long-term sickness absence, a poor WAI score was associated with disability pension and longer duration of sickness absence (192). The WAS is a good alternative to the complete WAI and a reliable measure for assessing the status and progress of work ability (193, 194). The WAS has also shown to have predictive power for future disability from 0 representing "cannot work at all right now" to 10 representing "my work ability as at its best right now". The WAS classifies work ability using the same type of categorisation as the entire WAI, namely poor (0-5 points), moderate (6,7), good (8,9) and excellent work ability (10). Work ability was also dichotomised into 'poor' work ability (WAS<8 points) and 'good' work ability (WAS \geq 8 points) using a previously published cut-off score (194).

Function - FRI

In study III, function was measured with the Functional Rating Index (FRI) which is an instrument designed to measure the subjective perception of functional status and pain in patients with spinal pain (2). Using a five-point scale for each item, the patient ranks their perceived different functions and activities in relation to daily life. The instrument consists of ten questions on pain intensity, sleep, personal care, travelling/driving, ability to work, recreation, frequency of pain, lifting, walking and standing (2). The total score is calculated by adding all the responses, as recommended by Feise et al. (2) (total score/40)×100%) with the scores ranging from 0 to 100% disability. The higher the number, the higher the perceived disability and pain. The FRI is considered to be a valid and reliable instrument for measuring subjective function and pain in the spinal musculoskeletal system (2, 197).

Categorisation of physiotherapy interventions

In study IV, each recorded physiotherapy intervention was classified with a procedure code and grouped into one of five treatment categories according to a protocol used by Abbott et al. (7): physical exercise, behavioural medicine interventions, manual therapy, occupational medicine interventions and physical modalities.

Data analyses and statistical methods

Study I

In study I, the aim was to compare the concurrent validity of the SBT and the ÖMPSQ-short, including psychometric properties and clinical utility. A non-parametric approach was chosen because most of our data came from questionnaires based on ordinal data, which are based on the ranks of observations. The data were not considered as normally distributed because of the ordered, categorical nature.

Spearman's rank correlation coefficient was used to study the correlations between the SBT total scores and the ÖMPSQ-short total scores. The correlation coefficient is used to discover the strength of a link between two sets of data, where a coefficient near 1 is a strong, positive correlation and a coefficient near 0 is weak. A correlation coefficient less than 0.3 was considered as poor, 0.3-0.5 as fair, 0.6-0.8 moderately strong and greater than 0.8 was considered very strong (198).

We conducted subgroup analyses, based on pain sites reported by the patients, gender and age. For pain sites, we divided the population in two groups based on the answer to question number two in SBT, which is about neck or shoulder pain. All patients who reported neck or shoulder pain were allocated to the NP+BP group (a mixed group of patients with neck or shoulder pain with or without BP). Patients who did not report neck or shoulder pain were allocated to the BP group and were regarded as having BP only. The reason for not analysing patients with neck pain only was that we were unable to identify them as we had no access to their diagnoses. For gender, we divided the study population into females and males. For age, we divided the population into three age groups (\leq 39, 40-49 and \geq 50 years).

We found these age groups clinically relevant to study, as the age 40-49 years is a period of life often associated with higher demands both at home and at work and might therefore result in a higher sick leave.

To describe the observed agreement regarding classification into risk groups, between the ÖMPSQ-short (low and high risk) and the SBT (low, medium and high risk), the Cohen's kappa test was used, where <0.20 was considered poor agreement, 0.21 to 0.40 fair agreement, 0.41 to 0.60 moderate agreement, 0.61 to 0.80 good agreement, and values over 0.80 very good agreement (199). We chose this test because we wanted to compare our results with a previous, similar study by Fuhro et al. (121). We chose the weighted Cohen's kappa test, as this test also takes into account the degree of disagreement between the two instruments. This is especially relevant when the ratings/questions are ordered.

To enable comparison between the ÖMPSQ-short (with two risk groups) and the SBT (with three risk groups), we needed to merge two of the risk groups for the SBT in the analysis. We performed two analyses. First, we merged the low- and medium-risk group for the SBT (low/medium vs high risk) and in the second analysis, we merged the medium- and high-risk group for the SBT (low vs medium/high risk). We chose to present the results of the second analysis, in line with Fuhro et al. (121), as this appeared to be the most clinically relevant solution (6).

The McNemar test was used to identify any differences regarding allocation to the low- or high-risk group by the two instruments, and to determine whether the disagreement observed was balanced or skewed towards the lower or higher risk group. The proportion of observed agreement/disagreement was calculated by percentage.

We described the clinical utility of the two instruments as screening tools from a clinician's perspective. Clinical utility was described as clinician miscalculating and misclassifying total and/or subscale scores of the two instruments. First, we calculated the number of physiotherapists miscalculating ÖMPSQ-short total scores and SBT total and subscale scores. Then, we calculated the miscalculations that had led to a misclassification. To analyse whether a miscalculation of a total score had led to a misclassification to a higher or lower risk group, we used the cut-off scores specified by the instrument developers (85, 109), with three risk groups in the SBT (low, medium and high) and two risk groups in the ÖMPSQ-short (low and high) (85).

Study II

In study II the aim was to study the ability of the SBT to predict HRQoL and work ability outcomes. As for study I, we used a non-parametric approach, chosen based on the distribution of the data. Descriptive data on the study population were presented for the total population and for each SBT risk group. We evaluated the SBT specific risk groups separately and the SBT overall score.

We used different methods to measure the predictive performance of the SBT. First, cross tabulations were used to describe the proportion of participants in each SBT risk group that had poor outcome in long-term follow-up for each outcome. The Kruskal Wallis test was used to examine whether there were any differences between the SBT risk groups on follow-up data on HRQoL and work ability (median), respectively. Potential differences were confirmed with the Mann-Whitney U test. A Chi-squared test for trend was used to confirm potential differences concerning poor or good HRQoL and work ability.

Secondly, we calculated the odds ratios (95% confidence intervals) for SBT risk groups to predict poor HRQoL (EQ-5D<0.6) and poor work ability (WAS<8) using binary logistic regression. Age, sex, treatment group and time to follow-up were also included as independent variables in the analysis. We built a multiple logistic model where all independent variables were entered together with the SBT risk groups, as all these variables influence the outcome at the same time, as in real life. For SBT, we used the SBT low risk group as the reference group and for treatment groups (RCT intervention n=61, RCT control n=99, Not RCT n=78), we used the 'Not RCT group' as the reference group. The significance level was set at 5%.

Thirdly, we evaluated the ability of the SBT overall scores (0-9 points) to discriminate between individuals with poor or good HRQoL/work ability in long-term follow-up. We used the area under the curve (AUC) statistics from receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves (200). The ROC curve was constructed by plotting the true positive rate (sensitivity) against the false positive rate (specificity) for each cut-off score of the SBT. The strength of discrimination was set according to the following descriptors: 0.7-<0.8 acceptable discrimination, 0.8-<0.9 excellent discrimination, and ≥ 0.9 outstanding discrimination (201).

The predictive validity of the SBT risk group cut-offs (low/medium and medium/high) was also assessed, by calculating sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive values (PPV), negative predictive values (NPV) and positive and negative likelihood ratios (LRs) against long-term HRQoL and work ability outcomes. The SBT risk group cut-offs (low/medium and medium/high) were used in line with the original study (6). The PPV is the probability that a poor outcome is present when the test is positive, and the NPV is the probability that a good outcome is present when the test is negative. Higher positive LRs and lower negative LRs indicate better discrimination. Likelihood ratios above 5 or below 0.2 are generally seen as supporting a strong test, whereas values close to 1 indicate poor test performance (202).

Study III

In study III, the aim was to study the effects of CDM on secondary outcomes. As we wanted to estimate the 'real-life' effect and take potential deviations from the protocol into account, as can be expected to happen in everyday clinical practice, we chose the intention-to-treat approach (203). Using this method means that all participants who are randomised are included in the statistical analysis and that participants are analysed according to the group they were originally assigned, regardless of the treatment they received. All persons with at least one measurement (at baseline, three, six or 12 months) were included in the analyses of WAS and EQ-5D. For the analysis of FRI, all persons with baseline value and at least one follow-up value were included.

We used a linear mixed effect regression model, with the rehabilitation unit and the individual as random effects, and individuals were nested within rehabilitation units. The treatment group, follow-up time (as categorical variable) and their interaction were included as fixed effects. The estimates for the interaction effect between treatment group and follow-up time represent the between-group difference between the two treatments. The between-group difference at 12 months was the main outcome in these analyses. The regression model was adjusted for the baseline value of the respective outcome variable and for age, sex and whether on sick leave to account for a possible imbalance between the treatment groups. In a sensitivity analysis we repeated the above estimation using the regression model additionally adjusted for a) symptoms of anxiety and/or depression using HADS group (cut-off ≥ 8)(183) (three categories) or b) symptoms of exhaustion (yes or no) using the s-ED (184), as measured at baseline. All estimates are given with 95% confidence intervals (CI).

Descriptive statistics were used to describe changes over time regarding patientreported outcome measures by treatment group and by follow-time.

Study IV

Each type of intervention was given a procedure code according to the Swedish Classification of Health Interventions (KVÅ) (Classification of Procedures)¹ (204) used in Swedish health care. We chose the most appropriate procedure code and each intervention was classified with one procedure code.

¹ In 1964 the Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare (NBHW) introduced a national classification of surgical procedures based on an American classification of surgical procedures. Since 1997, a Swedish version of the NOMESCO Classification of Surgical Procedures has been in use. Over time, a classification of medical procedures has been added. Current procedures are listed in the Swedish Classification of Surgical and Medical Procedures (Swedish: klassifikation av vårdåtgärder) (issued by the NBHW).

In the treatment protocol there was also an option to record 'other' interventions. These were written in text form and were, if possible, provided with a procedure code. Where this was not possible, the intervention was described as 'other'.

All interventions given the procedure codes 'ergonomic advice' (QV010) or 'work and employment counselling' (QR002), were checked against the recording of the intervention CDM. If the CDM was present at the same date as a recording of 'ergonomic advice' or 'work and employment counselling', this intervention was excluded, to prevent inclusion of the CDM in this descriptive data set.

We then applied a treatment protocol used by Abbott et al. (7) to the set of procedure codes. The procedure codes were placed in five treatment categories (7) – physical exercise, behavioural medicine interventions, manual therapy, occupational medicine interventions and physical modalities. In the protocol by Abbott et al. (7), each treatment category included different procedure codes. All interventions in our study with a procedure code in line with the Abbott protocol were placed in one of the five different groups. If the procedure code was not present in the Abbott protocol, we had a discussion and decided to include the procedure code in the most appropriate treatment category. This means that we added procedure codes to the different treatment categories from the original Abbott protocol (7). The physiotherapists in the WorkUp trial had 26 intervention alternatives and one 'other' category. Only interventions with one or more recordings were added to the Abbott protocol. Interventions (with corresponding procedure codes) not used in our study (shockwave therapy, ultrasound and vibration training) were therefore not added to this protocol. In total, six procedure codes were added (Table 2).

Table 2.

Treatment categories by Abbot et al., with all procedure codes used in this study.

Treatment category	Intervention	Procedure code
Physical exercise	Range of movement training	QG001
	Cardiovascular training	QD016
	Stabilising training	QG003
	Muscle strengthening training	QG003
	Advice to stay active	DV132*
	Advice on posture	QM005
	Relaxation training	QG007
	Basic body awareness therapy	QB008*
	MDT/McKenzie therapy	QG000*
	Physical activity prescription	DV200*
Behavioural medicine interventions	Motivational interviewing	DU118
	Stress management	QK005*
	Supportive conversation	DU007
	Information/education on pain	QV007
Manual therapy	Joint mobilisation	DN006
manual therapy	Joint manipulation	DN008
	Nerve mobilisation	QG001
	Traction	QG001
	Trigger point pressure	DN007
	Massage	QB007
Occupational medicine interventions	Ergonomic advice	QV010
	Work and employment councilling	QR002
Physical modalities	Acupuncture	DA001
	Laser therapy	QB011
	TENS	DA021
	Taping	DN003
	Heat/Cold	QB011
	Orthosis	DN003
	Medical aids	QT007*
Other		

*Added procedure codes

If the procedure code could not be included in one of the treatment categories by Abbott, this intervention was classified as 'other'. Interventions not given a procedure code in our study were placed in the 'other' group (e.g. medical yoga, different types of treatment for dizziness, monitoring or health-counselling).

Descriptive statistics were used to analyse frequencies and distributions. A nonparametric approach was chosen based on the distribution of the data.

We calculated the total number of interventions offered to all patients during the study period, and how these interventions were distributed among the five treatment categories and the category 'other'. We calculated median number of treatment visits and the median length of a treatment period. The number of visits for each patient was divided into three categories: 1-2 visits, 3-6, or ≥ 6 visits. We also calculated the proportion of patients who had received at least one intervention from the different treatment categories and the proportion of patients who had received interventions from two or more different treatment categories.

The Chi-square test for proportions was used to examine whether a greater proportion of patients in the intervention group received occupational medicine interventions compared to patients in the reference group. The Mann-Whitney U test was used to examine whether patients in the intervention group received a higher number of occupational medicine interventions than patients in the reference group.

Ethics

All studies were conducted according to the Declaration of Helsinki and were approved by the Regional Ethical Review Board in Lund, Sweden. Prior to inclusion, all patients were given written information about the purpose of the WorkUp study and each individual gave informed consent about participation. All patients were informed that participation was voluntary and that they could withdraw at any time without consequences for future care.

The application for the WorkUp study (for studies III and IV) was approved by the Ethical Review Board in Lund, Sweden Dnr 2012/497 (28 September 2012), Dnr 2012/648 (30 October 2012) and Dnr 2012/833 (9 January 2013). For further development of the scientific issues in WorkUp (for the SBT validation studies, study I and II), further amendments were needed and approved; Dnr 2013/426 (12 June 2013) and Dnr 2015/214 (19 March 2015).

The first amendment (Dnr 2013/426) was to patients scoring <40 points on ÖMPSQ-short in studies I and II. A letter was sent to these patients with information about the purpose of the study, stating that they could decline participation without consequences for future treatment (opt-out). All patients gave their consent to participation. The second amendment (Dnr 2015/214) was for patients scoring <40 points on ÖMPSQ-short in study II. A letter was sent describing the purpose of the study, and they were informed that they could decline participation without consequences for future treatment (opt-out). We also asked for permission to send them a questionnaire on long-term follow-up data (work ability and HRQoL). The questionnaires were short and quickly completed, and we did not consider there were any risks for the patients completing them. If they did not wish to respond, they could decline participation in study II.

In study III, we were aware of that some patients may have been doubtful regarding the contact with the employer. Sharing health status is sensitive information. A few patients declined the dialogue with the employer for various reasons, for example due to self-employment or temporary work; in those cases, the work situation was discussed between the physiotherapist and the patient alone. The workplace dialogue was voluntary, and the patients could decline participation without consequences for future care. We found the benefits of the workplace dialogue for the patient greater than the risks.

Results

This thesis includes two validation studies of the SBT, secondary outcomes from an RCT, and a description of physiotherapy interventions in primary care for patients with acute or subacute back and neck pain. The main results of the four studies are shown in Table 3.

Table 3.

Overview of the main results of studies I- IV.

Aim	Main results
Study I To compare the concurrent validity of the STarT Back Tool and the short form of the Örebro Musculoskeletal Pain Screening Questionnaire, including psychometric properties and clinical utility, in a primary care setting.	The correlation for SBT and ÖMPSQ-short total scores was moderately strong (0.62, p<0.01), Classification to high or low risk for long-term pain and disability showed moderate agreement, 70.2% (κ =0.42), SBT had fewer miscalculations (13/315) than the ÖMPSQ-short (54/315).
Study II To evaluate the STarT Back Tool's predictive validity for health-related quality of life and work ability outcomes at long-term follow-up in a population with acute/subacute back and/or neck pain.	Statistically significant differences were found for HRQoL (p<0.001) and work ability (p<0.001) scores at follow-up between all three SBT risk groups. The proportion of patients with poor HRQoL was higher in higher risk groups (low risk 4%, medium risk 11%, high risk 36%)(p<0.001) and the same trend was seen for poor work ability (low risk 22%, medium risk 35%, high risk 68%)(p<0.001). Patients in the high risk group had a significantly increased risk of having poor HRQoL (OR 6.16, 95% CI 1.50 to 25.26) and poor work ability (OR 5.08, 95% CI 1.75 to 14.71) vs the low risk group at follow-up. The AUC was 0.73 (95% CI to 0.84) for HRQoL and 0.68 (95% CI to 0.76) for work ability.
Study III To study the long-term effects of a workplace intervention in addition to structured physiotherapy regarding self-reported measures in patients with acute/subacute neck and/or back pain.	Mean differences in self-reported outcomes between groups were small and not statistically significant. From baseline to 12 months, the intervention group improved function from 46.5 (SD 19.7) to 10.5 (SD 7.3)(FRI); HRQoL from 0.53 (SD 0.29) to 0.74 (SD 0.20)(EQ-5D) and work ability from 5.7 (SD 2.6) to 7.6 (SD 2.1) (WAS).
Study IV To describe physiotherapy interventions provided for patients with neck and back pain at risk of work disability and to compare if patients in the intervention group received more occupational medicine interventions.	Physical exercise was the most common treatment category (59.7%), with virtually all patients (99.7%) receiving at least one intervention from this category. 81.7% of patients in the intervention group and 54.2% in the reference group received occupational medicine interventions (p<0.001).

Concurrent validity of the STarT Back Tool and the ÖMPSQ-short questionnaire (Study I)

Correlations

The Spearman's rank correlation coefficient for the SBT total scores and the $\ddot{O}MPSQ$ -short scores was 0.62 (p<0.01) for the total population, and the correlation was considered to be moderately strong (Figure 8). The correlation between the SBT total scores and the $\ddot{O}MPSQ$ -short scores for patients with BP (0.63, p<0.01) and for patients with NP+BP (0.60, p<0.01) was also moderately strong.



Figure 8.

Box-plot graph of the ÖMPSQ-short scores against the SBT total scores, n=315, r = 0.62. Asterix (*) represents extreme values. One person scored 9 points on SBT.

The statistical correlations for subgroup analyses, based on gender and age, are presented in Table 4. We found that the correlation for females was fair (0.57, p<0.01) and for males it was moderately strong (0.69, p<0.01). For participants aged \leq 39 years, the correlation was moderately strong (0.72, p<0.01) and for the 40-49 age group (0.57, p<0.01) and \geq 50 years (0.50, p<0.01), the correlation was fair. In further subgroup analyses, when we combined gender and age, we found the

correlation for males \geq 50 years to be moderately strong (0.71, p<0.01) but poor for females \geq 50 years (0.21, p=0.11) (Table 4).

Table 4.

Spearman's correlation	coefficient between S	SBT ¹ and ÖMPSQ-short ²	total scores n=315
opculture opculture			10101 3001 03, 11-010

Population	Males	and Fem	ales		Females			Males	
	n	r	р	n	r	р	n	r	р
Total population	315	0.62	< 0.01	197	0.57	< 0.01	118	0.69	< 0.01
BP ³	121	0.63	< 0.01	62	0.58	< 0.01	59	0.62	< 0.01
NP+BP⁴	194	0.60	< 0.01	135	0.56	< 0.01	59	0.68	< 0.01
≤ 39 years	108	0.72	< 0.01	69	0.73	< 0.01	39	0.75	< 0.01
40-49 years	105	0.57	< 0.01	71	0.60	< 0.01	34	0.50	< 0.01
≥ 50 years	102	0.50	< 0.01	57	0.21	0.11	45	0.72	< 0.01

¹SBT STarT Back Screening Tool, ²ÖMPSQ-short Short form of the Örebro Musculoskeletal Pain Screening Questionnaire, ³BP Back Pain, ⁴NP+BP Patients with neck or shoulder pain (NP) with or without back pain (BP)

Observed agreement

The observed agreement between the SBT and ÖMPSQ-short subgroup classification is shown in Table 5. Participant classification to high/low risk by both questionnaires showed moderate agreement (κ =0.42, p<0.01). The SBT classified 53.7% (169/315) as high risk and 46.3% (146/315) as low risk. The ÖMPSQ-short classified 36.5% (115/315) as high risk and 63.5% (200/315) as low risk. The observed classification agreement was 70.2%.

We found differences regarding classification into low- and high-risk subgroups (regardless of whether the low- and medium-risk group or the medium- and high-risk group were merged for the SBT). The disagreement (29.8%) was significantly skewed towards the SBT high risk (high risk = medium + high risk) group with a higher proportion of patients allocated to the SBT high-risk group (53.7%) compared with the ÖMPSQ-short (36.5%) (McNemar, p<0.01).

Table 5.

Observed agreement of SBT¹ (high risk = medium + high risk) and ÖMPSQ-short² subgroups, *n*=315.

ÖMPSQ-short		SBT	
	Low risk	High risk	Score
Low risk	126	74	200
High risk	20	95	115
Score	146	169	315

¹SBT STarT Back Screening Tool, ²ÖMPSQ-short Short form of the Örebro Musculoskeletal Pain screening questionnaire.

Clinical utility

We studied the clinical utility from a clinician's perspective.

Physiotherapists had miscalculated more on total scores in the ÖMPSQ-short (54/315) than in the SBT (13/315). In the SBT questionnaires, we found 22 miscalculations of the SBT subscale scores. Among the miscalculations of total scores, seven of the ÖMPSQ-short questionnaires and five of the SBT questionnaires, led to misclassifications to a higher or lower risk group. In four and 21 SBT questionnaires respectively, total scores and subscale score were not calculated by the physiotherapists. The first author (MF) calculated these scores. There were no missing calculations of total scores in the ÖMPSQ-short.

Predictive validity of STarT Back Tool for long-term health-related quality of life and work ability outcomes (Study II)

At baseline, 43%, 45% and 12% patients were considered as low, medium and at high risk respectively. The median time to long-term follow-up was 13 (range 11-27) months. For patients in the clinical trial (n=160), the median time to follow-up was 12 months (range 11-19). For patients not included in the clinical trial who received a postal questionnaire (n=78), the median time to follow-up was 22 months (range 16-27).

Predictive performance

There were statistically significant differences in the distribution of HRQoL scores (n=238) between the SBT low-, medium- and high-risk groups at long-term follow-up (p<0.001). The proportion of patients with poor HRQoL (EQ-5D<0.6) was significantly higher in higher-risk groups (low risk 4%, medium risk 11%, high risk 36%) (p<0.001) (Table 6).

There were also differences in the distribution of work ability (WAS) scores (n=235) between the SBT low-, medium- and high-risk groups at long-term followup (p<0.001). The proportion of patients with poor work ability (WAS <8) was significantly higher in higher risk groups (low risk 22%, medium risk 35%, high risk 68%) (p<0.001) (Table 6).

Table 6.

Health-related quality of life and work ability at long-term follow-up - total population and stratified by SBT risk groups.

		SBT risk grou	ıp		
Follow-up measure	Total population	Low	Medium	High	
	n=238	n=103	n=107	n=28	P values
Health-related quality of life; median (range)	0.80 (-0.14-1)	0.80 (0.09-1)	0.76 (0.09-1)	0.67 (-0.14-1)	<0.001*
EQ-5D† <0.6, n (%)	26 (11)	4 (4)	12 (11)	10 (36)	<0.001§
Work ability‡; median (range)	8 (0-10)	9 (0-10)	8 (1-10)	7 (0-10)	<0.001*
WAS¶ <8, n (%)	78 (33)	23 (22)	38 (35)	17 (68)	<0.001§

*Kruskal-Wallis test.

†EQ-5D scores, range -0.59-1.

[±]Three missing from the high risk group (total population: n=235 and n=25 for the high risk group).

§X² test for trend.

VertWhere 0 equates to 'completely unable to work' and 10 equates to 'work ability at its best'.

EQ-5D, EuroQol five-dimension; SBT, STarT Back Tool; WAS, Work Ability Score.

In the regression analysis we found that patients in the high-risk group had a significantly increased risk of having poor HRQoL (OR 6.16, 95% CI 1.50 to 25.26) and poor work ability (OR 5.08, 95% CI 1.75 to 14.71) compared with the low-risk group at follow-up, which also applied after adjusting for age, sex, treatment, and time to follow-up (Table 7).

Table 7.

The ability of the SBT risk groups to predict poor health related quality of life* and poor work ability† at long-term follow-up.

DR	95% CI for OR				
	99% CHIOF UK	P values	OR	95% C. for OR	P values
			1		
.814	0.506-6.509	0.361	1.361	0.684	0.380
6.160	1.502-25.264	0.012	5.075	1.751-14.705	0.003
			1		
.411	0.073-27.252	0.820	7.631	1.284-45.341	0.025
.932	0.183-47.073	0.448	8.156	1.485-44.803	0.016
.949	0.734-1.227	0.688	1.146	0.983-1.336	0.081
.984	0.947-1.022	0.403	1.014	0.988-1.040	0.306
.449	0.183-1.106	0.082	0.706	0.381-1.309	0.269
² -test	P values	df	χ ²-test	P values	df
5.41	0.71	8	5.27	0.73	8
	.814 .160 .411 .932 .949 .984 .449 ²-test	.814 0.506-6.509 .160 1.502-25.264 .411 0.073-27.252 .932 0.183-47.073 .949 0.734-1.227 .984 0.947-1.022 .449 0.183-1.106	.814 0.506-6.509 0.361 .160 1.502-25.264 0.012 .411 0.073-27.252 0.820 .932 0.183-47.073 0.448 .949 0.734-1.227 0.688 .984 0.947-1.022 0.403 .449 0.183-1.106 0.082	.814 0.506-6.509 0.361 1.361 .160 1.502-25.264 0.012 5.075 .411 0.073-27.252 0.820 7.631 .932 0.183-47.073 0.448 8.156 .949 0.734-1.227 0.688 1.146 .984 0.947-1.022 0.403 1.014 .449 0.183-1.106 0.082 0.706	.814 0.506-6.509 0.361 1.361 0.684 .160 1.502-25.264 0.012 5.075 1.751-14.705 .411 0.073-27.252 0.820 7.631 1.284-45.341 .932 0.183-47.073 0.448 8.156 1.485-44.803 .949 0.734-1.227 0.688 1.014 0.983-1.336 .984 0.947-1.022 0.403 1.014 0.988-1.040 .449 0.183-1.106 0.082 0.706 0.381-1.309

*Poor HRQoL measured by EQ-5D questionnaire <0.6.

†Poor work ability measured by WAS <8.

HRQoL: Cox-Snell R²=0.12. Nagelkerke R²=0.21, n=238.

Work ability: Cox-Snell R²=0.11. Nagelkerke R²=0.16, n=235.

EQ-5D, EuroQoI five-dimension; HRQoL, health-related quality of life; RCT, randomised clinical trial; SBT, STarT Back Tool; WAS, Work Ability Score.

The area under the curve (AUC) for overall STarT Back Tool scores to discriminate between individuals with poor health-related quality of life (EQ-5D <0.6) in long-term follow up was 0.73 (CI 0.61-0.84), which was acceptable (\geq 0.7) (Figure 9).

For work ability, the AUC for overall STarT Back Tool scores to discriminate between individuals with poor work ability (WAS<8) in long-term follow up was 0.68 (CI 0.61-0.76) which was just below the limit (\geq 7) for acceptable discrimination (Figure 10).



Diagonal segments are produced by ties.

Figure 9.

AUC and ROC curve for overall STarT Back Tool scores to discriminate between individuals with poor health-related quality of life (EQ-5D <0.6) in long-term follow up. Each point on the ROC curve has a corresponding cut-off value. The area under the ROC curve was 0.73. AUC, area under the curve; EQ-5D, Euroqol 5-dimension questionnaire; ROC, receiver operation characteristic.



Diagonal segments are produced by ties.

Figure 10.

AUC and ROC curve for overall STarT Back Tool scores to discriminate between individuals with poor work ability (WAS<8) in long-term follow up. Each point on the ROC curve has a corresponding cut-off value. The area under the ROC curve was 0.68. AUC, area under the curve; EQ-5D, Euroqol 5-dimension questionnaire; ROC, receiver operation characteristic.

The discriminative ability of the SBT risk group cut-offs (low/medium and medium/high) to predict poor HRQol and poor work ability in long-term follow-up is presented in Table 8. The LRs+ were higher and the LRs- were lower for HRQoL outcomes compared with work ability outcomes, which indicates better discrimination of the SBT for poor HRQoL than for poor work ability (Table 8).

Table 8.

Discriminative ability of the SBT risk group cutoffs (low/medium and medium/high) to predict poor HRQoL and poor work ability in long-term follow up.

Subgroups	Sensivity (%)	Specificity (%)	PPV (%)	NPV (%)	LR+ (95% CL)	LR- (95% CL
HRQoL (EQ- 5D <0.6)	1					
L vs. M/H	84.6	46.7	16.3	96.1	1.59 (1.29-1.95)	0.33 (0.13-0.82)
L/M vs. H	38.5	91.5	35.7	92.4	4.53 (2.35-8.74)	0.67 (0.49-0.91)
Work ability (WAS <8)						
L vs. M/H	70.5	51.0	41.7	77.7	1.44 (1.16-1.78)	0.58 (0.40-0.84)
L/M vs. H	21.8	94.9	68.0.	71.0	4.28 (1.93-9.47)	0.82 (0.73-0.93)

SBT, Star Back Tool; HRQoL, Health related quality of life; EQ-5D, EuroQol five-dimension; WAS, Work Ability Score; PPV, Positive Predictive Value; NPV, Negative Predictive Value; LR+, Positive likelihood ratio; LR-, negative likelihood ratio.

Long-term effects on function, health-related quality of life and work ability after structured physiotherapy including a workplace intervention (Study III)

Between-group comparisons

The mean differences in self-reported outcomes between the intervention and reference group (adjusted for age, sex, whether on sick leave, and the baseline value of the outcome) for all three outcomes were small and not statistically significant at 12-month follow-up (Table 9). The mean differences in outcomes between the intervention and the reference group after 12 months were -0.76 (95% CI: -2.39, 0.88) for function (FRI), 0.02 (95% CI: -0.04, 0.08) for health-related quality of life (EQ-5D), and -0.05 (95% CI: -0.63, 0.53) for work ability (WAS) (Table 9). The results were similar in all sensitivity analyses (Table 9).

		Adjusted ^a	Adjusted ^a + HADS	Adjusted ^a + Exhaustion
	Mean difference (95%Cl)	Mean difference (95%CI)	Mean difference (95%CI)	Mean difference (95%CI)
Function (FRI)				
3-month follow-up	-2.17 [-4.42,0.09]	0.28 [-1.80,2.36]	0.37 [-1.64,2.39]	-0.36 [-2.51,1.78]
6-month follow-up	2.16 [-0.83,5.16]	-0.42 [-2.02,1.18]	-0.42 [-2.02,1.19]	-0.06 [-1.71,1.58]
12-month follow-up	1.97 [-1.08,5.02]	-0.76 [-2.39,0.88]	-0.77 [-2.41,0.87]	-0.55 [-2.23,1.14]
HRQoL (EQ-5D)				
3-month follow-up	-0.05 [-0.11,0.02]	-0.05 [-0.11,0.01]	-0.05 [-0.11,0.01]	-0.05 [-0.11,0.02]
6-month follow-up	-0.00 [-0.06,0.06]	-0.01 [-0.07,0.06]	-0.01 [-0.07,0.06]	-0.02 [-0.08,0.05]
12-month follow-up	0.02 [-0.04,0.08]	0.02 [-0.04,0.08]	0.02 [-0.04,0.08]	0.01 [-0.05,0.08]
Work ability (WAS)				
3-month follow-up	-0.66* [-1.23,-0.08]	-0.69* [-1.26,-0.11]	-0.68* [-1.26,-0.11]	-0.66* [-1.25,-0.07]
6-month follow-up	-0.23 [-0.80,0.34]	-0.27 [-0.84,0.30]	-0.27 [-0.84,0.30]	-0.35 [-0.94,0.23]
12-month follow-up	-0.01 [-0.58,0.57]	-0.05 [-0.63,0.53]	-0.04 [-0.62,0.54]	-0.15 [-0.74,0.45]

Mean difference in self-reported function, HRQoL and work ability between the intervention and the reference group. The differences are presented at 3, 6 and 12 months.

Table 9.

^aadjusted for age, sex, whether on sick leave at baseline, and the baseline value of the outcome. HADS=Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale, Exhaustion=self-rating of str related Exhaustion Disorder (s-ED), HRQoL=Health related quality of life, FRI=Functional Rating Index (0 to 100% disability), EQ-5D=EuroQol five-dimension (-0.594 to 1.0 where 1 correspond to full health), WAS=Work Ability Score (0 to 10 from 0 representing "cannot work at all right now" to 10 representing "my work ability as at its best right now".

Changes over time

Improvement was observed in both the intervention and the reference groups in terms of all self-reported outcome measures after 12 months (Figures 11-13).

Table 10 shows the measures on self-reported function, health-related quality of life and work ability, described by treatment group and by follow-up time from baseline to 3, 6 and 12 months.

For function, the improvement was most apparent after 3 months (Figure 11) and overall, disability decreased in the intervention group between baseline and 12 months from 46.5 (SD 19.7) to 10.5 (SD 7.3) and in the reference group from 49.8 (SD 18.7) to 11.7 (SD 8.2) on FRI.



Figure 11.

Mean outcome per treatment group over follow-up time with 95% confidence interval estimated by the regression model regarding function as measured by FRI.

Health-related quality of life improved during the follow-up period (Figure 12). From baseline to 12 months, the intervention group improved from 0.53 (SD 0.29) to 0.74 (SD 0.20) and the reference group from 0.49 (SD 0.30) to 0.69 (SD 0.27) on EQ-5D.



Figure 12.

Mean outcome per treatment group over follow-up time with 95% confidence interval estimated by the regression model regarding health related quality of life as measured by EQ-5D.

For work ability, patients in both groups improved during the follow-up time, also most apparent between baseline and 3 months (Figure 13). From baseline to 12-month follow-up, the intervention group improved from 5.7 (SD 2.6) to 7.6 (SD 2.1) and the reference group improved from 5.4 (SD 2.9) to 7.3 (SD 2.4) on WAS.



Figure 13.

Mean outcome per treatment group over follow-up time with 95% confidence interval estimated by the regression model regarding work ability as measured by Work Ability Score (WAS).

Table 10.

Self-reported outcome measures by treatment group and by follow-up time*.

Outcome measure and follow-up month	Reference group		Intervention gro	pup
	Number of individuals	Mean (SD) / Median [IQR]	Number of individuals	Mean (SD) / Median [IQR]
Function (FRI)				
0	205	49.8 (18.7)	145	46.5 (19.7)
3	169	13.4 (10.7)	124	13.3 (8.9)
6	168	11.9 (8.0)	121	10.7 (7.5)
12	161	11.7 (8.2)	112	10.5 (7.3)
HRQoL (EQ-5D)				
0	205	0.49 (0.30)	144	0.53 (0.29)
3	169	0.70 (0.23)	123	0.67 (0.26)
6	173	0.69 (0.25)	123	0.7 2 (0.23)
12	172	0.69 (0.27)	115	0.74 (0.20)
Work ability (WAS)				
0	204	5.4 (2.9) / 6.0 [5.0]	144	5.7 (2.6) / 6.5 [4.0]
3	167	7.3 (2.3) / 8.0 [3.0]	122	6.9 (2.3) / 7.0 [2.0]
6	173	7.4 (2.2) / 8.0 [3.0]	123	7.4 (1.9) / 8.0 [2.0]
12	170	7.3 (2.4) / 8.0 [3.0]	115	7.6 (2.1) / 8.0 [2.0]

*Unadjusted data

SD=standard deviation, IQR=interquartile range, FRI=Functional Rating Index, HRQoL=Health related quality of life, EQ-5D=EuroQoI five-dimension, WAS=Work Ability Score.

Physiotherapy interventions in primary care for working-age patients with acute/subacute neck and back pain (Study IV)

Total number of interventions and distribution by treatment category

For all patients (n=343), during the whole registration period (Jan 2013 to Dec 2014), a total of 5674 different interventions were recorded. Figure 14 shows how the total number of interventions was distributed by the five treatment categories. Physical exercise interventions were 59.7% (3390/5674) of the total number of interventions, so was the most commonly used treatment category (Figure 14). Manual therapy accounted for 18.9 %, physical modalities 11.1%, occupational medicine interventions that were not possible to categorise accounted for 1.3% of the total number of interventions. The vast majority of occupational medicine interventions (99%) involved ergonomic advice (Figure 14).


Figure 14.

How the total number of interventions was distributed by treatment categories for patients with acute/subacute neck and back pain in WorkUp, n=5674 during the registration period (Jan 2013-Dec 2014).

Treatment period, number of visits and type of intervention

The median length of treatment period was 43 days (range 1-411) and the median number of treatment visits was 5 (range 1-41). There were 68 (19.8%) individuals who had 1-2 visits, 168 (49.0%) who had 3-6 visits and 107 (31.2%) who had ≥ 6 visits.

All but one patient, 99.7% (342/343), received at least one intervention of physical exercise during the treatment period (Figure 15). More than half of the study population, 65.6% (225/343), received at least one occupational medicine intervention, and one intervention of manual therapy, 57.1% (196/343) (Figure 15). 40.2% (138/343) of the patients received at least one intervention of physical modality, 14.6% (50/343) of behavioural medicine interventions and 8.7% (30/343) of 'other' interventions during the treatment period (Figure 15).



Figure 15.

The proportion of patients who have received at least one intervention from the different treatment categories, n=343. Note: A person may be present in more than one treatment category.

Patients received more than one type of intervention during the treatment period. Nearly two-thirds of the patients (63.2%) received interventions from three or more different treatment categories (Table 11).

Table 11.

The proportion of patients who received treatment from one to six different treatment categories¹, n=343 during the registration period (Jan 2013- Dec 2014)

Number of treatment categories	n	%
1	26	7.6
2	100	29.2
3	131	38.2
4	67	19.5
5	18	5.2
6	1	0.3

¹Physical exercise, behavioural medicine interventions, manual therapy, occupational medicine interventions, physical modalities or 'other'.

Referrals

There was a total of 45 referrals to other health care professionals for 37 patients (11%). Most referrals were to physicians (mainly in primary care) (n=24), but also to other professionals, for example to specialised physiotherapists (n=7), occupational therapists (n=4), social workers (n=2), chiropractors (n=2) or for team/multimodal rehabilitation (n=5) and occupational health care (n=1).

Comparison between the intervention group and reference group in terms of occupational medicine interventions

81.7% of patients in the intervention group and 54.2% in the reference group received at least one occupational medicine intervention (p<0.001) during the treatment period. Patients in the intervention group also received a greater number of occupational medicine interventions (md 1, range 0-6), p<0.001.

General discussion

The overall aim of this thesis was to obtain deeper knowledge on health care interventions in primary care of working-age patients with acute or subacute back and neck pain, by studying screening tools, physiotherapy interventions and patientreported outcomes. We examined the concurrent validity of the Swedish version of the STarT Back Tool against the ÖMPSQ-short form, and also the predictive validity of the STarT Back Tool for health and work ability outcomes. Long-term effects of a workplace dialogue in addition to structured physiotherapy for selfreported outcomes were also evaluated, and the broad spectrum of interventions used by primary care physiotherapists for patients with back and neck pain in working-age were described.

Risk assessment and stratified care in primary care

Modern primary care development often includes new ways of working, using tools for stratification of care for different patient groups and decision support systems for major patient groups. As patients with back and/or neck pain are frequent attenders in primary care (17, 18), there is a need to develop and evaluate different tools for risk assessment and stratification of diagnostic, treatment and rehabilitation methods used (87, 205-207). When preparing the WorkUp clinical trial on workplace intervention for patients with short term back or neck pain in primary care, we identified two different tools available in Swedish for risk assessment of these patient groups. The STarT Back Tool and the ÖMPSQ-short form have both been used in different populations, but the concurrent validity had never before been studied for a large primary care population in Sweden.

This is the first time that the SBT has been validated against the ÖMPSQ-short for patients with both back and/or neck pain in primary care. The correlation between the SBT and the ÖMPSQ-short total scores was found to be moderately strong, indicating that the SBT can be used as a clinical tool for patients with acute/subacute back and/or neck pain applying for physiotherapy in primary care. However, we also found differences between the instruments in terms of classification agreement (observed classification agreement was 70.2% and the observed disagreement was 29.8%) and clinical utility (the SBT had fewer miscalculations of total scores compared with the ÖMPSQ-short).

The ÖMPSQ-short was designed to identify risk factors for work disability measured as sick leave (85). ÖMPSQ was also designed to be used as a prognostic tool. The SBT was designed to identify modifiable prognostic factors for long-term back pain and disability and for stratified care (6, 84). The SBT is intended for use not only as a prognostic tool, but also for stratified care (106).

From our findings we conclude that both instruments can be used, but for different purposes (87, 208). However, we believe that with the broad knowledge in many different populations worldwide for the utility of the SBT (84, 111, 117, 207, 209) we would recommend it for use both in clinical practice and research studies. Further evaluations and studies of applicability are needed, to enable more detailed recommendations for the use of different instruments in routine clinical settings. From our experiences we would also recommend the SBT for studies of patients with neck pain and back pain, as the feasibility for these patient groups was good.

We conclude that screening processes are important in the care of patients with back and neck pain in primary care. It is important for clinicians to obtain prognostic information about their patients early in the rehabilitation process in order to tailor interventions (210). A clinical and research priority is therefore to, at an early stage, identify subgroups of patients with nonspecific back and neck pain who are at risk of developing long-standing disability, in order to optimize treatment (108, 120).

A potential benefit of using the SBT instead of the ÖMPSQ-short might be that the SBT was more feasible for clinicians to use than the ÖMPSQ-short. When clinicians choose a classification instrument they need to be aware of, that patients at medium risk and especially patients at high risk need a more enhanced treatment compared to those at low risk who can be reassured and offered less intensive treatment (105). Costs for misclassification and overtreatment of patients with a good prognosis can be high (84) and also detrimental in patients with acute back pain (211).

We believe that the SBT has an advantage compared with the ÖMPSQ-short, as it may provide clinicians with additional guidance in the level of care compared to the ÖMPSQ-short. The SBT is designed for stratified care, which involves targeted treatment to subgroups of patients based on their prognostic profile (106). The aim of stratified care is to tailor therapeutic decisions in ways that maximise treatment benefit, reduce harm and increase healthcare efficiency by offering the right treatment to the right patient at the right time (106). This may be an advantage in primary care, as clinical intuition does not always consistently match patient prognosis (212). When using stratified care, clinicians can minimise the risk of overtreatment for low-risk patients and give more appropriate treatment for medium- and high-risk patients (84) and thereby help the physiotherapist prioritise between different pathways at an early stage. Stratified care has also shown to improve clinical outcomes and to be cost-effective compared to usual care in the UK (84, 213).

The results suggested that using the SBT risk group classification enabled us to predict certain outcomes such as health-related quality of life and work ability in the long term, based on the baseline information obtained by the SBT. We found that the proportion of patients with poor health-related quality of life at long-term follow-up was higher in higher-risk groups (low risk 4%, medium risk 11%, high risk 36%) (p<0.001) and the same trend was seen for poor work ability (low risk 22%, medium risk 35%, high risk 68%) (p<0.001).

As all prediction results were based on the information obtained on a group level, we must be careful about a precise 'prediction-of-individual-risk' route rather than a pragmatic 'group treatment'. We are well aware of the dangers of misclassification when trying to develop and apply a simple clinical tool.

The validation studies in this thesis showed that the SBT now can be used as a prognostic tool in primary care to identify, at an early stage, subgroups of patients with acute or subacute back and neck pain who are at risk of long-term pain and disability. The SBT also can be used to identify patients at risk of poor health-related quality of life and work ability in the long term. The information on important modifiable risk factors and prognosis for this patient group may help clinicians in primary care to tailor treatment to the patient and develop personalised treatment strategies, which is a priority in research (214, 215). It may also help clinicians (GPs, physiotherapists, etc) to, at an early stage, avoid unnecessary treatments and overinvestigations, and direct a more extensive package of treatments to patients at medium or high risk of poor outcome. Using this stratified care approach has potential to improve patients' outcomes and reduce health care costs. Future studies are required to study whether the implementation of screening with SBT together with matched treatment pathways affect function, health-related quality of life and work ability outcomes in both short and long terms for patients with back or neck pain in primary care. Studies must also examine whether this strategy is costeffective.

The effect of a workplace dialogue on self-reported outcomes

Workplace dialogue was a key part of the WorkUp trial focusing on work ability (185). The main outcome, work ability, was defined as "working four weeks in a row without any sickness absence, at 12-month follow up". This intervention was offered in addition to structured physiotherapy interventions. In the published study on the confirmatory outcome, the results favoured the intervention (185). We wanted to increase understanding of whether there were any effects on self-reported function, health-related quality of life and work ability with the workplace dialogue as an add-on to an early intervention of physiotherapy in primary care. Self-reported

outcomes are increasingly recognised as valuable tools in clinical trials, since they add unique information about how a patient benefits from an intervention (216).

The WorkUp trial included evaluating the various work ability outcomes. One selfreported outcome used was the Work Ability Score (WAS single-item question from the Work Ability Index, WAI) (8) at 12-month follow-up. This outcome reflects the patients' own experience of their present work ability, compared to lifetime best Other tentative outcomes of work ability and work disability might include selfreported or register-based measures of sick leave. Sick leave measures have a focus on absenteeism whereas other measures, such as the WAS, may also include aspects of presenteeism (217). The main confirmatory evaluation in the WorkUp trial measured self-reported absenteeism using a text message service, where patients were asked to answer three questions about work ability every week for 12 months. The response rates for the text messages were high for both the intervention and the reference groups, 84% to 99% of patients responded weekly throughout the followup year (185) and we believe that the risk for recall bias in that setting (reporting on the previous week) was very low.

The findings on work ability included no significant improvement as measured by the WAS as a point prevalence. This differs from the reports of significantly improved work ability as measured by the self-reported text message service (185). However, the same pattern was seen in both studies with a tendency of an increasing effect of the workplace dialogue on work ability at the end of the follow-up year (Figure 9) even though we did not reach a statistically significant difference between groups when using the WAS as a point prevalence in this study. A point prevalence can give an answer that is relevant just for that particular day but may also reflect a longer time-period. Since WAS also reflects present work ability compared to lifetime best, it is reasonable to believe that patients with back and/or neck pain can experience decreased work ability while still at work. In the WorkUp trial, only onethird were on sick leave at baseline, and almost the entire study population were in employment (96%). Work ability can be measured in different ways and no instrument covers all its aspects (162). Work ability can be seen as a continuum, a dynamic process that changes over time depending on different supportive and destructive factors occurring during life (166). We conclude that the two different measurements of work ability used in the WorkUp trial need not necessarily concur with one another, as they measure different aspects of work ability.

We observed significant improvements in measures of function and health-related quality of life over time in both the intervention group and in the reference group, but with no significant differences. Similar results were found in the SWAP trial where a workplace intervention had positive effect on work absence but not on secondary self-reported health-related outcomes (181). Also in another recent study on intervention of the effectiveness of a participatory workplace intervention of industrial workers, they did not find any effect on health outcomes (218). The interventions used in the WorkUp trial resulted in significant improvement, forming

the basis for improved work ability. Many factors could explain why we could not identify any differences between groups for the WAS. These include the different aspects and perspectives of work ability included in different instruments, as well as the tentative assertion that the workplace dialogue does improve some aspects of work ability in the form of reduced absenteeism, but not aspects of presenteeism.

In contrast, in the confirmatory study of the WorkUp trial, a positive effect was found after structured physiotherapy including the workplace dialogue CDM when work ability was measured as absenteeism (185). The workplace dialogue may have had an effect by 'lowering the threshold' for returning to/remaining at work even though the patients did not experience better work ability. To provide more relevant and effective services for patients with back pain, it is important to inform physiotherapists that patients want their employers to be informed about their condition and that they desire help with workplace adaptation (219). We have not yet analysed what type of workplace adjustments were planned and implemented after the CDM. This information may give more detailed knowledge on the possible benefits of CDM. Previous studies have shown that early interventions and interventions involving the workplace are important in preventing work disability (220) and that multidomain interventions, with healthcare provision, service coordination and work accommodation components, are recommended (178, 221).

In the WorkUp trial, the workplace dialogue CDM was tested as an add-on to structured physiotherapy in primary care. All patients received structured physiotherapy and all participating physiotherapists received continuous updates on evidence treatments. The non-significant results on self-reported work ability, health-related quality of life and function can reflect that the comparison (reference group) received interventions that were more evidence-based than treatment as usual, no differences in favour for the intervention group could be detected. As we did not include a 'non-treated' control group, we cannot rule out that the improvement in outcomes within groups was the result of either regression to the mean, placebo or other contextual factors (222).

In this case, it was the physiotherapist who initiated the CDM, which is held in three steps – first, an interview with the patient, followed by an interview with the employer, and thirdly, a meeting between the physiotherapist, the patient and the employer. The aim was to strengthen the patient's work ability and to support the patient in remaining at work or returning to work by discussing possible changes or work place adjustments that could be made by the patient or the employer. Based on the results in Sennehed et al (185) we believe that the CDM had an impact on the patients' decision to stay at work or, if sick-listed, return to work.

During the follow-up period, HRQoL improved both in the intervention and reference group. It is important to notice that this improvement was above 0.6, which is suggested as a cut-off for work ability (191). HRQoL reflects how a patient experiences their health and can have an important impact on work ability.

Function also improved during the follow-up period. Since work ability is considered to be a multi-dimensional concept, all components in the ICF-model (47) must be considered. Work ability can be seen as activity and participation, but to enable a patient to be active and participate, different functions are required. The patients' different capacities must also be related to environmental factors.

Physiotherapy interventions for patients of working-age with early neck and back pain

In general, physiotherapy interventions are poorly described in detail in clinical trials (74, 89), and study IV has opened the box of physiotherapy tools used for patients with acute/subacute neck and back pain in primary care. The study showed that physical exercise was the most common treatment category (59.7%), with almost all patients (99.7%) receiving at least one intervention from this category. Nearly two-thirds of patients (63.2%) received interventions from three or more different treatment categories, and 81.7% of patients in the intervention group and 54.2% in the reference group received occupational medicine-oriented interventions (p<0.001).

We have studied the types and number of interventions offered to these patients in this specific setting, and thereby given a detailed description of the physiotherapy interventions offered in the WorkUp trial. For the safety of the patient and for health care, it is important to describe the types of interventions offered to patients in clinical trials.

We now understand more about physiotherapy in primary care, i.e. the contents of the physiotherapy toolbox. We believe that the results of this study are representative for physiotherapists in general in primary care. Physiotherapists seemed to give more ergonomic advice than we expected; this can be explained by the design and focus of work in the WorkUp trial. A large proportion of patients in both the intervention and reference group received ergonomic advice, although a greater proportion in the intervention group.

Our data and information support the hypothesis that physiotherapists tailor interventions to the patient. We could see that physiotherapists provided many different interventions, and 63.2% of the patients received interventions from three or more different treatment categories.

From our experience, we believe there is a need for supporting IT systems in the electronic medical records systems for physiotherapists in primary care. It should be easy to document what interventions the patients receive and to easily measure the effect of different interventions.

There is a perception that physiotherapists are treating patients according to a holistic approach, and also a biopsychosocial model. We saw that almost all patients received at least one intervention of physical exercise, and more than fifty percent of the patients received manual therapy, which corresponds to the 'bio' part in the biopsychosocial model. However, many patients also received occupational medicine-oriented interventions, which may correspond to the 'psychosocial' part of the model.

Few patients received cognitive behavioural medicine interventions. This was surprising as we found from the baseline data that 24.6% of the patients had signs of depression or signs of anxiety (\geq 8 points on HADS)(183), and that 27.5% had signs of exhaustion (184) (data not published). This information was not available to the treating physiotherapist. Apparently, the physiotherapists did not identify these conditions in the patients. Comorbidity between pain and mental ill-health is well known (223) and, since physiotherapists are first-line treatment in primary care, is it important that they have instruments that help them to identify patients in need of psychological care. We also found that there were almost no referrals to psychologist. This indicates that patients in the study might have been undertreated in terms of their mental health. Another explanation for the lack of referrals is that physiotherapists in general are not used to referring patients to other health care professionals. Only recently have physiotherapists become entitled to send referrals to imaging.

The median number of visits for treatment was five (range 1-41). In a recent study in primary care in the Netherlands, Bier et al. (224) investigated whether clinicians offer tailored treatment and an appropriate amount of treatment visits to patients with low back pain or neck pain according to their risk stratification, based on the SBT. They found that patients at low risk of poor outcome and in need of less treatment were overtreated, and patients at high risk of poor outcome, in need of an extended treatment and more treatment visits, were undertreated according to their prognostic profile (224). The authors conclude that there may be "substantial room for improvement" (224).

There is reason to believe that the same pattern may be seen in other primary care settings, including Swedish primary care. In this thesis, the SBT was not actively used as an instrument by the physiotherapists, and we do not know if the patients were treated according to a stratified care approach. We now have a first description of type of and number of interventions offered to patients in primary care in this context. Further studies are needed to investigate whether these interventions are tailored according to the patient's risk profile.

In WorkUp, we tried a new model where the patient, the health care professional and the employer met early in the rehabilitation process. The physiotherapists in this trial gave many occupational medical interventions, which is highly relevant for this patient group. Physiotherapists in the intervention group gave even more ergonomic advice, which strengthens the need for greater awareness of the importance of integrating occupational medicine interventions in the treatment of patients at risk of work disability in working age.

Methodological considerations

Strengths and limitations

The main strength of this thesis is that all participants were recruited in connection with the WorkUp trial – a prospective cluster randomised trial in primary care. The trial was conducted at a large number of primary care settings (32) linked to 20 different rehabilitation units in southern Sweden. A total of 67 physiotherapists included patients to the trial. All 20 units and physiotherapists were continuously supported by researchers and project coordinators throughout the project period. The study was pragmatic and closely linked to daily clinical practice in ordinary Swedish primary care, and was based on high-quality and thoroughly validated data, which further strengthens our conclusions. All four studies in this thesis were conducted in three different county councils, which represents approximately 20% of the Swedish population, and the characteristics of the people living in the region can be comparable to Sweden as a whole (225). This suggest that the results may be generalisable.

The predictive validity of the SBT was analysed in many different ways, which is a strength. We studied how the SBT risk groups and the SBT overall score could predict work ability and HRQoL outcomes, and we analysed the outcomes HRQoL and work ability, both on the continuous scale (Kruskal-Wallis) and as a dichotomised outcome (Chi-Square test for trend and logistic regression). The AUC was chosen, as this is a measurement that can be used to compare our results with other populations and settings (226).

The main limitation for all studies conducted in relation to WorkUp is that there is no record of all patients that applied for physiotherapy at the 20 different primary care rehabilitation units during the study period. Physiotherapists were asked to invite all patients that applied for physiotherapy for acute or subacute back and/or neck pain to participate in the study. If they were screened ≥ 40 points at ÖMPSQshort and did not meet exclusion criteria, they were included in the study. We cannot be certain that all patients were asked or if there were patients that were not invited, due to lack of time or other reasons. We must be aware that there might be a selection bias at baseline. In studies I and II, we also included patients that were not included in the WorkUp trial, but still screened with ÖMPSQ-short. For these patients we have limited information. This might impact the generalisability of some of the findings. Another limitation is that we did not have access to diagnosis for this group of patients. This had the consequence that we were not able to distinguish patients diagnosed with neck pain only and we conducted our subgroup analysis based on pain sites instead of diagnosis. For pain sites, we divided the population in two groups (BP and NP+BP) based on the answer on question number two in SBT, which is about comorbid neck pain. On the other hand, having neck pain with or without comorbid back pain is common (227) and thus makes the results of these studies applicable to a common clinical situation.

Participant classification to low or high risk for long-standing disability by the SBT and ÖMPSQ-short had moderate agreement, but there was also a disagreement. A larger proportion of patients were allocated to the high-risk group when using the SBT instead of the ÖMPSQ-short (53.7% vs 36.5%). This may be explained by the high-risk classification we used when we merged the medium and high-risk group for the SBT in our study. However, the reason why we merged the groups for SBT (medium + high) in the analysis was that patients with medium and high risk are those who will benefit most from physiotherapy (84).

In study II we also asked the patients not included in the trial about their work ability and health-related quality of life, by sending a questionnaire by post (n=124). Since we needed ethical approval for this, we were unable to send these questionnaires at 12-month follow-up. These patients (78/238) completed the EQ-5D and WAS questionnaires at median 22-month (range 16-27) follow-up. This means that about one third of the patients answered the questionnaire at almost one year later than the other two thirds. This could possibly have impact on how HRQoL and work ability were experienced.

In study III, we examined secondary patient-reported outcomes of the WorkUp trial. The power calculations made for the WorkUp trial were based on the primary outcome, which was work ability measured as sick leave (185). The power calculations indicated that slightly more than 500 patients were needed (259 patients in each treatment arm). Even though the recruitment period was prolonged by one year, the intended power for the primary outcome of the trial was not achieved. This may also have influenced the secondary outcomes.

The compliance for the workplace dialogue was that 91 patients (62.3%) took part in at least step 2, i.e. interview I (physiotherapist and patient) and interview II (physiotherapist and employer). We tried to maintain the intention-to-treat approach in our analyses. We also carried out an 'as-treated analysis' where those who did not receive at least step 2 were transferred from the intervention group to the reference group (37.7% of the patients in the intervention group). The as-treated analysis did not change the results. In the as-treated analysis, 91 persons were in the intervention group and 261 in the reference group.

In study IV, we developed a treatment protocol based on clinical and research experience. The aim of the protocol was to cover and represent commonly used interventions in primary care physiotherapy. At the time of planning the trial, no validated protocol was available. When the trial started, physiotherapists did not record procedure codes in the medical records, but today this is common procedure. It would have been a strength if the treatment protocol had been based on an existing protocol that included official procedure codes. However, we believe that we managed to convert the different treatment alternatives we provided to the physiotherapists in the treatment protocol into procedure codes and into five relevant treatment categories according to Abbott et al. (7).

In study IV we also saw that the recorded treatment periods were long (md 43 days, range 1-411). This is somewhat surprising, since the study population had acute or subacute pain, and treatment periods should have been shorter. We have reasons to believe that the recorded treatment length also included the follow-up at three, six and twelve months, which added several months to the treatment period recorded.

Summary and conclusions

This thesis has deepened the knowledge on health care interventions in primary care for working-age patients with acute or subacute back and neck pain. The Swedish STarT Back Tool (SBT), a brief screening tool designed for tailored interventions based on risk stratification/triage, has been validated for individuals with acute or subacute back and neck pain in primary care. Long-term effects of a workplace dialogue (CDM), as an add-on to structured physiotherapy on self-reported function, health-related quality of life and work ability have been evaluated, and the broad spectrum of interventions used by primary care physiotherapists for patients with back and neck pain in working-age have been described.

- The correlations between the SBT and the ÖMPSQ-short scores were moderately strong for individuals with acute or subacute back and/or neck pain, and the SBT was feasible to use in clinical practice. We therefore suggest that SBT can be used in primary care to identify individuals with both back and neck pain at risk of long-term pain and disability.
- We found that the SBT also can be used to identify patients at risk for a poor long-term health-related quality of life and/or work ability in a population with acute or subacute back and/or neck pain
- We found no effect of the CDM, as an add-on to structured physiotherapy, on self-reported function, health-related quality of life, and work ability (point prevalence) at the 12-months follow-up. All self-reported outcomes improved over time in both the intervention and the reference group.
- Patients with neck and back pain at risk of work disability were offered many different types of interventions, with physical exercise being the most frequently used treatment category. Patients in the intervention group received more occupational medicine-oriented interventions than patients in the reference group.

Clinical implications

- It is important to use screening tools in primary care in order to tailor interventions and manage with limited resources. Recent studies have shown that using the SBT together with matched treatment is cost-effective and can optimize treatment for patients with back pain. We found that the SBT is a clinically useful tool that can be used for patients with both back and neck pain. It can be used to allocate patients into low-, medium- or high-risk strata/groups of long-term pain and disability and can also be used to identify patients at risk for a poor long-term health-related quality of life and/or work ability outcome.
- SBT may help clinicians to prioritize between different treatment pathways, steer away from overtreatment of patients with a good prognosis and direct a more extensive package of treatments to patients at high risk of poor outcome. This has potential to save both time and costs and improve clinical outcomes for patients with back and neck pain in primary care.
- Early interventions and interventions involving the workplace are important in preventing work disability. In the WorkUp trial, we found no effect of the CDM, as an add-on to structured physiotherapy, on self-reported function, health-related quality of life and work ability (measured as a point prevalence). Although we found no impact of CDM on self-reported measures in this study, our earlier analysis of the primary outcome of the trial (actual absence from work) showed a positive effect from adding CDM to structured physiotherapy. This finding from the earlier primary outcome analysis together with the cost-effectiveness, is regarded be sufficient to justify the introduction of the CDM more widely in primary care settings.
- In general, physiotherapy interventions are not in detail described. For the safety of the patient, and for health care it is important to register the interventions provided for patients in primary care. In the WorkUp trial we found that physiotherapists offered many

different types of interventions for patients with back and neck pain. To be able to evaluate the effects of different physiotherapy interventions, physiotherapists need to better describe and register what type of interventions that are offered to their patients.

Future research

There is a need to study in more detail the extent and suitability of different physiotherapy interventions in primary care for patients with back or neck pain. This includes studies where the SBT is actively used in primary routine care as a risk stratification tool, and where physiotherapy treatment is tailored according to SBT risk groups. These studies should include self-reported outcomes and register data on sick leave and also outcomes on health care and drug consumption.

We also need to gain further knowledge on the relationships between self-reported outcomes on work ability, presenteeism and sick leave. The long-term effects of the WorkUp trial will be evaluated using health care register data on sick leave, health care consumption, and costs.

Acknowledgements

This research was made possible through funding and support from Lund University, The Scientific Committee of Region Blekinge, the county councils of Region Skåne, Region Kronoberg and Region Blekinge, and the national REHSAM project. All data was collected in connection with the WorkUp project and this thesis would never have been completed without all patients and physiotherapists who took part in this project.

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to all of you who have in one way or another contributed to this work and who have supported me in different ways during my PhD studies and in the work with this thesis. In particular:

My supervisor Ingemar Petersson – I would never have reached my goal without you! Thank you so much for introducing me to your field of research, both nationally and internationally, for being so generous and sharing your broad knowledge, for introducing me to the Research Group at Keele University, and for supporting and believing in me from the beginning and throughout all these years.

My co-supervisor Kjerstin Stigmar – you were always there to support me when I needed it most. Thank you for your patience and all the interesting discussions, for sharing your writing and pedagogical skills, and also for sharing your broad knowledge within the 'area of work'. Thank you for the fine support and company when we travelled together to conferences. I will never forget our journey to WCPT 2017 in Cape Town, South Africa, and when we visited the Research Group in Keele, UK.

My co-supervisor Birgitta Grahn for sharing your broad knowledge in the field of physiotherapy and for guiding me on how to organise and lead training courses and how to be a researcher in a large project such as the WorkUp project. Thank you for welcoming and introducing me to your Research Group in Växjö and for always giving me positive feedback along the way.

All my co-authors; Ingemar Petersson, Birgitta Grahn, Kjerstin Stigmar, Charlotte Post Sennehed, Jonathan C Hill, Aleksandra Turkiewicz. I have really appreciated working together with you all!

My colleague Charlotte Post Sennehed. I'm so happy that we have been alongside each other from the start and had so very much fun along the way. Thank you for all the discussions, the laughter, and support. The WorkUp project group – Birgitta Grahn, Ingemar Petersson, Kjerstin Stigmar, Charlotte Post Sennehed, Elisabeth Bondesson, Anja Nyberg, Ingrid Hoffman, Lena Nazzal, Christina Josefsson, Marcus Bencker – for all the stimulating meetings and for support.

Jonathan C Hill, thank you for inspiring me from the very beginning and for sharing your broad knowledge in the research field, for sharing your thoughts, for invaluable help and collaboration, and fruitful discussions on the analyses and results of my studies about STarT Back Tool.

Peter Croft for sharing your broad knowledge in prognostic research, for your inspiring and valuable advice and discussions about the analyses and results of my studies on the STarT Back Tool. Thank you so much for your hospitality and generosity when we have met, both in Keele and in Sweden.

The research team at the Institute of Primary Care and Health Sciences, Keele University, Stoke-on-Trent, UK.

My employer Kristina Borén for giving me positive support and encouragement during all my years at Karlskrona Rehabcenter and as a PhD student.

Mats Berggren, for giving me the opportunity to do this research.

Ingrid Hoffman – for always supporting me and for all cooperation within the WorkUp project.

Aleksandra Turkiewicz and Mikael Åström for skilled help with statistical support. I also want to thank Henrik Forssell and Ali Al Nima for support and explanations about statistics.

I would like to thank the staff and doctoral students at Epidemiology and Register Center South, Lund, Lotte Höjgård-Hansen and Chanchai Manuswin, for interesting seminars and support.

The staff and doctoral students at Physiotherapy, Health Sciences Center, Lund, for stimulating seminars and support, and a special thank you to Eva Ekvall-Hansson and Gunvor Gard for your support along the way.

All my physiotherapy collegues and workmates at Karlskrona Rehabcenter, thank you for the wonderful atmosphere and for sharing the joy of clinical work.

Thanks to the physiotherapists and patients on the photos in this thesis.

My colleagues at Blekinge Kompetenscentrum, Karlskrona, thank you all for the encouragement, support, 'fika meetings' and laughs.

Thanks to Inger Jönsson, Mats Reenbom and Lil Carleheden-Ottosson for skilful help with references.

Danilo Garcia and Cecilia Fagerström for encouragement and scientific support.

Erik Resebo and Erik Lindskär for help with data processing, SPSS and excel.

All patients and physiotherapists who were involved in the WorkUp research project – thank you for your help with data collection.

All my lovely friends that I have around me in life, and a special thank you to Sofia Fridén, my colleague and friend for many years, for support and for sharing clinical experience, conferences, and many important moments in life.

My sisters Åsa and Sara Ekermo for being just you.

My parents-in-law, Birgitta and Kjell, for supporting and helping me and our family from the beginning and throughout these years.

My parents, Lena and Alf, for always being there with love, and for supporting me and our family in different ways.

And last but not least, thanks to my dear family; Magnus, my husband, and our children Hanna, Axel and Linnea for all love and support during these years, and for being you. I love you!

References

- 1. Mokkink LB, Terwee CB, Patrick DL, Alonso J, Stratford PW, Knol DL, et al. The COSMIN study reached international consensus on taxonomy, terminology, and definitions of measurement properties for health-related patient-reported outcomes. J Clin Epidemiol. 2010;63(7):737-45.
- 2. Feise RJ, Michael Menke J. Functional rating index: a new valid and reliable instrument to measure the magnitude of clinical change in spinal conditions.[Erratum appears in Spine 2001 Mar 1;26(5):596]. Spine. 2001;26(1):78-86; discussion 7.
- 3. Rabin R, de Charro F. EQ-5D: a measure of health status from the EuroQol Group. Ann Med. 2001;33(5):337-43.
- 4. van Tulder M, Becker A, Bekkering T, Breen A, del Real MT, Hutchinson A, et al. Chapter 3. European guidelines for the management of acute nonspecific low back pain in primary care. European spine journal : official publication of the European Spine Society, the European Spinal Deformity Society, and the European Section of the Cervical Spine Research Society. 2006;15 Suppl 2:S169-91.
- Guzman J, Hurwitz EL, Carroll LJ, Haldeman S, Côté P, Carragee EJ, et al. A new conceptual model of neck pain: linking onset, course, and care: the Bone and Joint Decade 2000–2010 Task Force on Neck Pain and Its Associated Disorders. J Manipulative Physiol Ther. 2009;32(2):S17-S28.
- 6. Hill JC, Dunn KM, Lewis M, Mullis R, Main CJ, Foster NE, et al. A primary care back pain screening tool: identifying patient subgroups for initial treatment. Arthritis Rheum. 2008;59(5):632-41.
- Abbott A, Schroder K, Enthoven P, Nilsen P, Oberg B. Effectiveness of implementing a best practice primary healthcare model for low back pain (BetterBack) compared with current routine care in the Swedish context: an internal pilot study informed protocol for an effectiveness-implementation hybrid type 2 trial. BMJ Open. 2018;8(4):e019906.
- 8. Tuomi K, Ilmarinen J, Jahkola A, Katajarinne L, Tulkki A. Work ability index, Finnish Institute of Occupational Health. 2. Helsinki; 1998.
- 9. Balague F, Mannion AF, Pellise F, Cedraschi C. Non-specific low back pain. Lancet (London, England). 2012;379(9814):482-91.
- Fejer R, Kyvik KO, Hartvigsen J. The prevalence of neck pain in the world population: a systematic critical review of the literature. European spine journal : official publication of the European Spine Society, the European Spinal Deformity Society, and the European Section of the Cervical Spine Research Society. 2006;15(6):834-48.

- 11. Hoy D, Bain C, Williams G, March L, Brooks P, Blyth F, et al. A systematic review of the global prevalence of low back pain. Arthritis and rheumatism. 2012;64(6):2028-37.
- 12. Bergman S, Herrstrom P, Hogstrom K, Petersson IF, Svensson B, Jacobsson LT. Chronic musculoskeletal pain, prevalence rates, and sociodemographic associations in a Swedish population study. J Rheumatol. 2001;28(6):1369-77.
- Vos T, Allen C, Arora M, Barber RM, Bhutta ZA, Brown A, et al. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 310 diseases and injuries, 1990–2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. The Lancet. 2016;388(10053):1545-602.
- 14. Vos T, Abajobir AA, Abate KH, Abbafati C, Abbas KM, Abd-Allah F, et al. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 328 diseases and injuries for 195 countries, 1990–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. The Lancet. 2017;390(10100):1211-59.
- 15. Hartvigsen J, Hancock MJ, Kongsted A, Louw Q, Ferreira ML, Genevay S, et al. What low back pain is and why we need to pay attention. The Lancet. 2018.
- 16. Henschke N, Kamper SJ, Maher CG, editors. The Epidemiology and Economic Consequences of Pain. Mayo Clin Proc; 2015: Elsevier.
- 17. Kinge JM, Knudsen AK, Skirbekk V, Vollset SE. Musculoskeletal disorders in Norway: prevalence of chronicity and use of primary and specialist health care services. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2015;16:75.
- 18. Jordan KP, Kadam UT, Hayward R, Porcheret M, Young C, Croft P. Annual consultation prevalence of regional musculoskeletal problems in primary care: an observational study. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2010;11:144.
- National Board of Health and Welfare. Nationella riktlinjer för rörelseorganens sjukdomar 2012 [National guidelines for musculoskeletal diseases]. [Internet]. In Swedish. Stockholm: National Board of Health and Welfare; 2012. [cited 2 Jan 2020]. Available from: https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/globalassets/sharepointdokument/artikelkatalog/nationella-riktlinjer/2012-5-1.pdf.
- 20. Joud A, Petersson IF, Englund M. Low back pain: epidemiology of consultations. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2012;64(7):1084-8.
- 21. Bevan S. Economic impact of musculoskeletal disorders (MSDs) on work in Europe. Baillieres Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2015;29(3):356-73.
- 22. Lindegard A, Larsman P, Hadzibajramovic E, Ahlborg G, Jr. The influence of perceived stress and musculoskeletal pain on work performance and work ability in Swedish health care workers. Int Arch Occup Environ Health. 2014;87(4):373-9.
- 23. Heitz CA, Hilfiker R, Bachmann LM, Joronen H, Lorenz T, Uebelhart D, et al. Comparison of risk factors predicting return to work between patients with subacute and chronic non-specific low back pain: systematic review. European spine journal : official publication of the European Spine Society, the European Spinal Deformity Society, and the European Section of the Cervical Spine Research Society. 2009;18(12):1829-35.
- 24. Nolet PS, Cote P, Kristman VL, Rezai M, Carroll LJ, Cassidy JD. Is neck pain associated with worse health-related quality of life 6 months later? A population-

based cohort study. Spine Journal: Official Journal of the North American Spine Society. 2015;15(4):675-84.

- 25. Nolet PS, Kristman VL, Cote P, Carroll LJ, Cassidy JD. Is low back pain associated with worse health-related quality of life 6 months later? European Spine Journal. 2015;24(3):458-66.
- 26. Kaaria S, Solovieva S, Leino-Arjas P. Associations of low back pain with neck pain: a study of industrial employees with 5-, 10-, and 28-year follow-ups. Eur J Pain. 2009;13(4):406-11.
- 27. Kaaria S, Laaksonen M, Leino-Arjas P, Saastamoinen P, Lahelma E. Low back pain and neck pain as predictors of sickness absence among municipal employees. Scandinavian Journal of Public Health. 2012;40(2):150-6.
- Breivik H, Collett B, Ventafridda V, Cohen R, Gallacher D. Survey of chronic pain in Europe: prevalence, impact on daily life, and treatment. Eur J Pain. 2006;10(4):287-333.
- 29. Gustavsson A, Bjorkman J, Ljungcrantz C, Rhodin A, Rivano-Fischer M, Sjolund KF, et al. Socio-economic burden of patients with a diagnosis related to chronic pain-register data of 840,000 Swedish patients. Eur J Pain. 2012;16(2):289-99.
- 30. Schaafsma FG, Anema JR, van der Beek AJ. Back pain: Prevention and management in the workplace. Baillieres Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2015;29(3):483-94.
- 31. IASP IAftSoP. IASP IAftSoP. In. [cited 2019 November 20]. Available from: https://www.iasp-pain.org/Education/Content.aspx?ItemNumber=1698#Pain.
- 32. Molin B, Norrbrink C, Lundeberg T, Lund I, Lundeberg S. Om smärta : ett fysiologiskt perspektiv [About pain: a physiological perspective]. Lund: Studentlitteratur; 2010.
- 33. Deyo RA, Weinstein JN. Low back pain. The New England journal of medicine. 2001;344(5):363-70.
- 34. Henschke N, Maher CG, Refshauge KM, Herbert RD, Cumming RG, Bleasel J, et al. Prevalence of and screening for serious spinal pathology in patients presenting to primary care settings with acute low back pain. Arthritis Rheum. 2009;60(10):3072-80.
- 35. Dionne CE, Dunn KM, Croft PR, Nachemson AL, Buchbinder R, Walker BF, et al. A consensus approach toward the standardization of back pain definitions for use in prevalence studies. Spine. 2008;33(1):95-103.
- 36. Rhodin A. Smärta i klinisk praxis [Pain in clinical practice]. Lund: Studentlitteratur; 2014.
- 37. Woolf CJ. Pain: moving from symptom control toward mechanism-specific pharmacologic management. Ann Intern Med. 2004;140(6):441-51.
- 38. Phillips K, Clauw DJ. Central pain mechanisms in chronic pain states–maybe it is all in their head. Best Practice & Research Clinical Rheumatology. 2011;25(2):141-54.
- 39. Trouvin A-P, Perrot S. New concepts of pain. Best Practice & Research Clinical Rheumatology. 2019;33(3):101415.
- 40. Brinjikji W, Diehn F, Jarvik J, Carr C, Kallmes DF, Murad MH, et al. MRI findings of disc degeneration are more prevalent in adults with low back pain than in

asymptomatic controls: a systematic review and meta-analysis. American Journal of Neuroradiology. 2015;36(12):2394-9.

- 41. Richmond J. Multi-factorial causative model for back pain management; relating causative factors and mechanisms to injury presentations and designing time- and cost effective treatment thereof. Medical hypotheses. 2012;79(2):232-40.
- 42. Cohen SPp, Hooten MWp. Advances in the diagnosis and management of neck pain: State of the Art Review. BMJ August. 2017;19(358).
- 43. Pincus T, Kent P, Bronfort G, Loisel P, Pransky G, Hartvigsen J. Twenty-five years with the biopsychosocial model of low back pain-is it time to celebrate? A report from the twelfth international forum for primary care research on low back pain. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2013;38(24):2118-23.
- 44. Engel GL. The need for a new medical model: a challenge for biomedicine. Science. 1977;196(4286):129-36.
- 45. Gatchel RJ, Peng YB, Peters ML, Fuchs PN, Turk DC. The biopsychosocial approach to chronic pain: scientific advances and future directions. Psychol Bull. 2007;133(4):581-624.
- 46. Waddell G, Burton AK. Concepts of rehabilitation for the management of low back pain. Baillieres Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2005;19(4):655-70.
- 47. World Health Organisation. International Classification of functioning, disability and Health: ICF.: World Health Organisation; 2001 [cited 2019 July 8]. Available from: file:///C:/Users/ma0437/Downloads/WHO%202001.pdf.
- 48. Lexell J, Rivano-Fischer M. Rehabiliteringsmetodik [Rehabilitation methodology]. Lund: Studentlitteratur; 2017.
- 49. Kongsted A, Kent P, Axen I, Downie AS, Dunn KM. What have we learned from ten years of trajectory research in low back pain? BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2016;17:220.
- 50. Riley RD, Hayden JA, Steyerberg EW, Moons KG, Abrams K, Kyzas PA, et al. Prognosis Research Strategy (PROGRESS) 2: prognostic factor research. PLoS Med. 2013;10(2):e1001380.
- 51. Babatunde OO, Jordan JL, Van der Windt DA, Hill JC, Foster NE, Protheroe J. Effective treatment options for musculoskeletal pain in primary care: A systematic overview of current evidence. PloS one. 2017;12(6):e0178621.
- Artus M, Campbell P, Mallen CD, Dunn KM, van der Windt DA. Generic prognostic factors for musculoskeletal pain in primary care: a systematic review. BMJ Open. 2017;7(1):e012901.
- 53. Hayden JA, Chou R, Hogg-Johnson S, Bombardier C. Systematic reviews of low back pain prognosis had variable methods and results: guidance for future prognosis reviews. Journal of clinical epidemiology. 2009;62(8):781-96.e1.
- 54. Walton DM, Carroll LJ, Kasch H, Sterling M, Verhagen AP, Macdermid JC, et al. An Overview of Systematic Reviews on Prognostic Factors in Neck Pain: Results from the International Collaboration on Neck Pain (ICON) Project. The open orthopaedics journal. 2013;7:494-505.

- 55. Carroll LJ, Holm LW, Hogg-Johnson S, Côté P, Cassidy JD, Haldeman S, et al. Course and prognostic factors for neck pain in whiplash-associated disorders (WAD): results of the Bone and Joint Decade 2000–2010 Task Force on Neck Pain and Its Associated Disorders. J Manipulative Physiol Ther. 2009;32(2):S97-S107.
- 56. Wertli MM, Eugster R, Held U, Steurer J, Kofmehl R, Weiser S. Catastrophizing—a prognostic factor for outcome in patients with low back pain: a systematic review. The Spine Journal. 2014;14(11):2639-57.
- 57. Main CJ, Foster N, Buchbinder R. How important are back pain beliefs and expectations for satisfactory recovery from back pain? Best Practice & Research Clinical Rheumatology. 2010;24(2):205-17.
- 58. Vlaeyen JW, Kole-Snijders AM, Boeren RG, Van Eek H. Fear of movement/(re) injury in chronic low back pain and its relation to behavioral performance. Pain. 1995;62(3):363-72.
- 59. Pincus T, Burton AK, Vogel S, Field AP. A systematic review of psychological factors as predictors of chronicity/disability in prospective cohorts of low back pain. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2002;27(5):E109-20.
- 60. George SZ, Beneciuk JM. Psychological predictors of recovery from low back pain: a prospective study. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2015;16:49.
- 61. Grotle M, Foster NE, Dunn KM, Croft P. Are prognostic indicators for poor outcome different for acute and chronic low back pain consulters in primary care? Pain. 2010;151(3):790-7.
- 62. Linton SJ. A review of psychological risk factors in back and neck pain. Spine. 2000;25(9):1148-56.
- 63. Chou R, Shekelle P. Will this patient develop persistent disabling low back pain? JAMA. 2010;303(13):1295-302.
- 64. Nilsen TIL, Holtermann A, Mork PJ. Physical exercise, body mass index, and risk of chronic pain in the low back and neck/shoulders: longitudinal data from the Nord-Trøndelag Health Study. Am J Epidemiol. 2011;174(3):267-73.
- 65. Kääriä S, Laaksonen M, Rahkonen O, Lahelma E, Leino-Arjas P. Risk factors of chronic neck pain: A prospective study among middle-aged employees. Eur J Pain. 2012;16(6):911-20.
- 66. Vasseljen O, Woodhouse A, Bjørngaard JH, Leivseth L. Natural course of acute neck and low back pain in the general population: the HUNT study. PAIN®. 2013;154(8):1237-44.
- 67. Costa LdCM, Maher CG, Hancock MJ, McAuley JH, Herbert RD, Costa LO. The prognosis of acute and persistent low-back pain: a meta-analysis. Cmaj. 2012;184(11):E613-E24.
- 68. Leaver AM, Maher CG, McAuley JH, Jull G, Latimer J, Refshauge KM. People seeking treatment for a new episode of neck pain typically have rapid improvement in symptoms: an observational study. J Physiother. 2013;59(1):31-7.
- 69. Pengel LH, Herbert RD, Maher CG, Refshauge KM. Acute low back pain: systematic review of its prognosis. BMJ (Clinical Research Ed). 2003;327(7410):323.

- Machado GC, Maher CG, Ferreira PH, Latimer J, Koes BW, Steffens D, et al. Can Recurrence After an Acute Episode of Low Back Pain Be Predicted? Phys Ther. 2017;97(9):889-95.
- 71. Dunn KM, Hestbaek L, Cassidy JD. Low back pain across the life course. Best practice & research Clinical rheumatology. 2013;27(5):591-600.
- 72. Enthoven P, Skargren E, Oberg B. Clinical course in patients seeking primary care for back or neck pain: a prospective 5-year follow-up of outcome and health care consumption with subgroup analysis. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2004;29(21):2458-65.
- 73. Jordan KP, Joud A, Bergknut C, Croft P, Edwards JJ, Peat G, et al. International comparisons of the consultation prevalence of musculoskeletal conditions using population-based healthcare data from England and Sweden. Ann Rheum Dis. 2014;73(1):212-8.
- 74. Bornhoft L, Larsson ME, Nordeman L, Eggertsen R, Thorn J. Health effects of direct triaging to physiotherapists in primary care for patients with musculoskeletal disorders: a pragmatic randomized controlled trial. Ther Adv Musculoskelet Dis. 2019;11:1759720x19827504.
- 75. Bornhoft L, Thorn J, Svensson M, Nordeman L, Eggertsen R, Larsson MEH. More cost-effective management of patients with musculoskeletal disorders in primary care after direct triaging to physiotherapists for initial assessment compared to initial general practitioner assessment. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2019;20(1):186.
- 76. Kamper SJ, Logan G, Copsey B, Thompson J, Machado GC, Abdel-Shaheed C, et al. What is usual care for low back pain? A systematic review of healthcare provided to patients with low back pain in family practice and emergency departments. Pain. 2019.
- 77. Foster NE, Anema JR, Cherkin D, Chou R, Cohen SP, Gross DP, et al. Prevention and treatment of low back pain: evidence, challenges, and promising directions. The Lancet. 2018.
- Almeida M, Saragiotto B, Richards B, Maher CG. Primary care management of nonspecific low back pain: key messages from recent clinical guidelines. Med J Aust. 2018;208(6):272-5.
- 79. Haldeman S, Johnson CD, Chou R, Nordin M, Côté P, Hurwitz EL, et al. The Global Spine Care Initiative: care pathway for people with spine-related concerns. European Spine Journal. 2018;27(6):901-14.
- 80. Oliveira CB, Maher CG, Pinto RZ, Traeger AC, Lin CWC, Chenot JF, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for the management of non-specific low back pain in primary care: an updated overview. European Spine Journal. 2018;27(11):2791-803.
- 81. Bier JD, Scholten-Peeters WGM, Staal JB, Pool J, van Tulder MW, Beekman E, et al. Clinical Practice Guideline for Physical Therapy Assessment and Treatment in Patients With Nonspecific Neck Pain. Phys Ther. 2018;98(3):162-71.
- 82. Qaseem A, Wilt TJ, McLean RM, Forciea MA. Noninvasive Treatments for Acute, Subacute, and Chronic Low Back Pain: A Clinical Practice Guideline From the American College of Physicians. Ann Intern Med. 2017.
- 83. Stochkendahl MJ, Kjaer P, Hartvigsen J, Kongsted A, Aaboe J, Andersen M, et al. National Clinical Guidelines for non-surgical treatment of patients with recent onset

low back pain or lumbar radiculopathy. European spine journal : official publication of the European Spine Society, the European Spinal Deformity Society, and the European Section of the Cervical Spine Research Society. 2018;27(1):60-75.

- Hill JC, Whitehurst DGT, Lewis M, Bryan S, Dunn KM, Foster NE, et al. Comparison of stratified primary care management for low back pain with current best practice (STarT Back): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet (London, UK). 2011;378(9802):1560-71.
- 85. Linton SJ, Nicholas M, MacDonald S. Development of a short form of the Orebro Musculoskeletal Pain Screening Questionnaire. Spine. 2011;36(22):1891-5.
- Traeger AC, Henschke N, Hübscher M, Williams CM, Kamper SJ, Maher CG, et al. Estimating the risk of chronic pain: development and validation of a prognostic model (PICKUP) for patients with acute low back pain. PLoS Med. 2016;13(5):e1002019.
- 87. UK National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management. [cited 2019 July 9]. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng59.
- Van Wambeke P, Desomer A, Ailiet L, Berquin A, Dumoulin C, Depreitere B, et al. Low back pain and radicular pain: assessment and management. KCE Report. 2017;287.
- 89. Swedish Agency for Health Technology Assessment and Assessment of Social Services. Preventiva insatser vid akut smärta från rygg och nacke - Efffekter av fysisk träning, manuell behandling och beteendepåverkande åtgärder [Acute neck and back pain: preventive interventions - Effects of physical training, manual treatment and cognitive behavioural interventions]. [Internet]. In Swedish. Stockholm: Swedish Agency for Health Technology Assessment and Assessment of Social Services (SBU); 2016. [cited 8 July 2019]. Available from: https://www.sbu.se/sv/publikationer/SBU-utvarderar/preventiva-insatser-vid-akutsmarta-fran-rygg-och-nacke--effekter-av-fysisk-traning-manuell-behandling-ochbeteendepaverkande-atgarder/
- Downie A, Williams CM, Henschke N, Hancock MJ, Ostelo RW, de Vet HC, et al. Red flags to screen for malignancy and fracture in patients with low back pain. Br J Sports Med. 2014;48(20):1518.
- 91. Nicholas MK, Linton SJ, Watson PJ, Main CJ. Early identification and management of psychological risk factors ("yellow flags") in patients with low back pain: a reappraisal. Phys Ther. 2011;91(5):737-53.
- 92. Shaw WS, van der Windt DA, Main CJ, Loisel P, Linton SJ, Decade of the Flags" WG. Early patient screening and intervention to address individual-level occupational factors ("blue flags") in back disability. Journal of occupational rehabilitation. 2009;19(1):64-80.
- Post Sennehed C, Gard G, Holmberg S, Stigmar K, Forsbrand M, Grahn B. "Blue flags", development of a short clinical questionnaire on work-related psychosocial risk factors - a validation study in primary care. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2017;18(1):318.

- 94. Bardin LD, King P, Maher CG. Diagnostic triage for low back pain: a practical approach for primary care. Med J Aust. 2017;206(6):268-73.
- 95. Reveille JD, Arnett FC. Spondyloarthritis: update on pathogenesis and management. The American Journal of Medicine. 2005;118(6):592-603.
- 96. Sieper J, van der Heijde D, Landewe R, Brandt J, Burgos-Vagas R, Collantes-Estevez E, et al. New criteria for inflammatory back pain in patients with chronic back pain: a real patient exercise by experts from the Assessment of SpondyloArthritis international Society (ASAS). Ann Rheum Dis. 2009;68(6):784-8.
- 97. Grotle M, Vollestad NK, Brox JI. Screening for yellow flags in first-time acute low back pain: reliability and validity of a Norwegian version of the Acute Low Back Pain Screening Questionnaire. Clin J Pain. 2006;22(5):458-67.
- 98. Linton SJ, Shaw WS. Impact of psychological factors in the experience of pain. Phys Ther. 2011;91(5):700-11.
- 99. Linton SJ, Boersma K. Early identification of patients at risk of developing a persistent back problem: the predictive validity of the Orebro Musculoskeletal Pain Questionnaire. Clin J Pain. 2003;19(2):80-6.
- 100. Linton SJ, Hallden K. Can we screen for problematic back pain? A screening questionnaire for predicting outcome in acute and subacute back pain. Clin J Pain. 1998;14(3):209-15.
- 101. Westman A, Linton SJ, Ohrvik J, Wahlen P, Leppert J. Do psychosocial factors predict disability and health at a 3-year follow-up for patients with non-acute musculoskeletal pain?. A validation of the Orebro Musculoskeletal Pain Screening Questionnaire. Eur J Pain. 2008;12(5):641-9.
- 102. Hockings RL, McAuley JH, Maher CG. A systematic review of the predictive ability of the Orebro Musculoskeletal Pain Questionnaire. Spine. 2008;33(15):E494-500.
- 103. Dagfinrud H, Storheim K, Magnussen LH, Odegaard T, Hoftaniska I, Larsen LG, et al. The predictive validity of the Orebro Musculoskeletal Pain Questionnaire and the clinicians' prognostic assessment following manual therapy treatment of patients with LBP and neck pain. Manual therapy. 2013;18(2):124-9.
- Maher CG, Grotle M. Evaluation of the predictive validity of the Orebro Musculoskeletal Pain Screening Questionnaire. Clin J Pain. 2009;25(8):666-70.
- 105. Sowden G, Hill JC, Konstantinou K, Khanna M, Main CJ, Salmon P, et al. Targeted treatment in primary care for low back pain: the treatment system and clinical training programmes used in the IMPaCT Back study (ISRCTN 55174281). Fam Pract. 2012;29(1):50-62.
- 106. Foster NE, Hill JC, O'Sullivan P, Hancock M. Stratified models of care. Best practice & research Clinical rheumatology. 2013;27(5):649-61.
- 107. Costa Lda C, Koes BW, Pransky G, Borkan J, Maher CG, Smeets RJ. Primary care research priorities in low back pain: an update. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2013;38(2):148-56.
- 108. Abbott A. Evidence base and future research directions in the management of low back pain. World journal of orthopedics. 2016;7(3):156-61.

- 109. Hay EM, Dunn KM, Hill JC, Lewis M, Mason EE, Konstantinou K, et al. A randomised clinical trial of subgrouping and targeted treatment for low back pain compared with best current care. The STarT Back Trial Study Protocol. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2008;9:58.
- 110. Foster NE, Mullis R, Hill JC, Lewis M, Whitehurst DG, Doyle C, et al. Effect of stratified care for low back pain in family practice (IMPaCT Back): a prospective population-based sequential comparison. Ann Fam Med. 2014;12(2):102-11.
- 111. Fritz JM, Beneciuk JM, George SZ. Relationship between categorization with the STarT Back Screening Tool and prognosis for people receiving physical therapy for low back pain. Physical Therapy. 2011;91(5):722-32.
- 112. Morso L, Kent P, Albert HB, Hill JC, Kongsted A, Manniche C. The predictive and external validity of the STarT Back Tool in Danish primary care. European spine journal : official publication of the European Spine Society, the European Spinal Deformity Society, and the European Section of the Cervical Spine Research Society. 2013;22(8):1859-67.
- 113. Bruyere O, Demoulin M, Beaudart C, Hill JC, Maquet D, Genevay S, et al. Validity and reliability of the French version of the STarT Back screening tool for patients with low back pain. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2014;39(2):E123-8.
- 114. Morso L, Albert H, Kent P, Manniche C, Hill J. Translation and discriminative validation of the STarT Back Screening Tool into Danish. European Spine Journal. 2011;20(12):2166-73.
- 115. Piironen S, Paananen M, Haapea M, Hupli M, Zitting P, Ryynanen K, et al. Transcultural adaption and psychometric properties of the STarT Back Screening Tool among Finnish low back pain patients. European spine journal : official publication of the European Spine Society, the European Spinal Deformity Society, and the European Section of the Cervical Spine Research Society. 2016;25(1):287-95.
- 116. Aebischer B, Hill JC, Hilfiker R, Karstens S. German Translation and Cross-Cultural Adaptation of the STarT Back Screening Tool. PloS one. 2015;10(7):e0132068.
- 117. Luan S, Min Y, Li G, Lin C, Li X, Wu S, et al. Cross-cultural adaptation, reliability, and validity of the Chinese version of the STarT Back Screening Tool in patients with low back pain. Spine. 2014;39(16):E974-9.
- 118. Field J, Newell D. Relationship between STarT Back Screening Tool and prognosis for low back pain patients receiving spinal manipulative therapy. Chiropractic and Manual Therapies. 2012;20(17).
- Betten C, Sandell C, Hill JC, Gutke A. Cross-cultural adaptation and validation of the Swedish STarT Back Screening Tool. European Journal of Physiotherapy. 2015;17(1):29-36.
- 120. van der Windt DA, Dunn KM. Low back pain research--future directions. Best practice & research Clinical rheumatology. 2013;27(5):699-708.
- 121. Fuhro FF, Fagundes FRC, Manzoni ACT, Costa LOP, Cabral CMN. Orebro musculoskeletal pain screening questionnaire short-form and STarT back screening tool. Spine. 2016;41(15):E931-E6.

- 122. Beneciuk JM, Fritz JM, George SZ. The STarT Back Screening Tool for prediction of 6-month clinical outcomes: relevance of change patterns in outpatient physical therapy settings. The Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports physical Therapy. 2014;44(9):656-64.
- 123. Bier JD, Ostelo R, van Hooff ML, Koes BW, Verhagen AP. Validity and Reproducibility of the STarT Back Tool (Dutch Version) in Patients With Low Back Pain in Primary Care Settings. Phys Ther. 2017;97(5):561-70.
- 124. Hill JC, Afolabi EK, Lewis M, Dunn KM, Roddy E, van der Windt DA, et al. Does a modified STarT Back Tool predict outcome with a broader group of musculoskeletal patients than back pain? A secondary analysis of cohort data. BMJ Open. 2016;6(10):e012445.
- 125. Campbell P, Hill JC, Protheroe J, Afolabi EK, Lewis M, Beardmore R, et al. Keele Aches and Pains Study protocol: validity, acceptability, and feasibility of the Keele STarT MSK tool for subgrouping musculoskeletal patients in primary care. J Pain Res. 2016;9:807.
- 126. Protheroe J, Saunders B, Bartlam B, Dunn KM, Cooper V, Campbell P, et al. Matching treatment options for risk sub-groups in musculoskeletal pain: a consensus groups study. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2019;20(1):271.
- 127. The World Confederation for Physical Therapy. www.wcpt.org [cited 28 November 2019]. Available from: https://www.wcpt.org/what-is-physical-therapy.
- 128. Sackett DL, Rosenberg WM, Gray JA, Haynes RB, Richardson WS. Evidence based medicine: what it is and what it isn't. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 1996;312(7023):71-2.
- Bernhardsson S, Oberg B, Johansson K, Nilsen P, Larsson ME. Clinical practice in line with evidence? A survey among primary care physiotherapists in western Sweden. J Eval Clin Pract. 2015;21(6):1169-77.
- 130. Gross A, Kay TM, Paquin JP, Blanchette S, Lalonde P, Christie T, et al. Exercises for mechanical neck disorders. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015(1).
- 131. Macedo LG, Saragiotto BT, Yamato TP, Costa LOP, Menezes Costa LC, Ostelo R, et al. Motor control exercise for acute non-specific low back pain. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016(2).
- 132. World Health Organization. Global recommendations on physical activity for health. Geneva, 2010. ISBN: 9789241599979 http://www.who int/dietphysicalactivity/publications/9789241599979/en/ Accessed. 2017;1:60.
- Caspersen CJ, Powell KE, Christenson GM. Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: definitions and distinctions for health-related research. Public Health Rep. 1985;100(2):126.
- 134. Rasmussen-Barr E, Ang B, Arvidsson I, Nilsson-Wikmar L. Graded exercise for recurrent low-back pain: a randomized, controlled trial with 6-, 12-, and 36-month follow-ups. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2009;34(3):221-8.
- 135. Kent P, Mjosund HL, Petersen DH. Does targeting manual therapy and/or exercise improve patient outcomes in nonspecific low back pain? A systematic review. BMC Med. 2010;8:22.

- 136. Clare HA, Adams R, Maher CG. A systematic review of efficacy of McKenzie therapy for spinal pain. Aust J Physiother. 2004;50(4):209-16.
- 137. Bystrom MG, Rasmussen-Barr E, Grooten WJ. Motor control exercises reduces pain and disability in chronic and recurrent low back pain: a meta-analysis. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2013;38(6):E350-8.
- 138. Kallings LV. FaR Individanpassad skriftlig ordination av fysisk aktivitet [Physical activity on prescription (PAP)]. Östersund: Statens folkhälsoinstitut; 2011.
- 139. Gross A, Langevin P, Burnie SJ, Bédard-Brochu MS, Empey B, Dugas E, et al. Manipulation and mobilisation for neck pain contrasted against an inactive control or another active treatment. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015(9).
- Miller J, Gross A, D'Sylva J, Burnie SJ, Goldsmith CH, Graham N, et al. Manual therapy and exercise for neck pain: a systematic review. Man Ther. 2010;15(4):334-54.
- 141. Furlan AD, Giraldo M, Baskwill A, Irvin E, Imamura M. Massage for low-back pain. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015(9).
- 142. Graham N, Gross A, Goldsmith CH, Klaber Moffett J, Haines T, Burnie SJ, et al. Mechanical traction for neck pain with or without radiculopathy. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2008(3).
- 143. Thackeray A, Fritz JM, Childs JD, Brennan GP. The Effectiveness of Mechanical Traction Among Subgroups of Patients With Low Back Pain and Leg Pain: A Randomized Trial. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 2016;46(3):144-54.
- 144. Li Y, Yin Y, Jia G, Chen H, Yu L, Wu D. Effects of kinesiotape on pain and disability in individuals with chronic low back pain: a systematic review and metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. Clin Rehabil. 2019;33(4):596-606.
- 145. Wong J, Cote P, Sutton D, Randhawa K, Yu H, Varatharajan S, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for the noninvasive management of low back pain: A systematic review by the Ontario Protocol for Traffic Injury Management (OPTIMa) Collaboration. Eur J Pain. 2017;21(2):201-16.
- 146. Lundberg D, Axelsson S, Boivie J, Eckerlund I, Gerdle B, Breivik H, et al. Metoder för behandling av långvarig smärta [Methods for treatment of long-term pain]. Stockholm: Swedish Agency for Health Technology Assessment and Assessment of social Services (SBU); 2006.
- 147. Ahlberg M, Axelsson S, Eckerlund I, Gerdle B, Stålnacke B, Söderlund A, et al. Rehabilitering vid långvarig smärta: En systematisk litterturöversikt [Rehabilitation of long-term pain: A systematic review]. Stockholm: Swedish Agency for Health Technology Assessment and Assessment of Social Services (SBU); 2010.
- 148. Busch H, Bodin L, Bergström G, Jensen IB. Patterns of sickness absence a decade after pain-related multidisciplinary rehabilitation. PAIN®. 2011;152(8):1727-33.
- 149. Norlund A, Ropponen A, Alexanderson K. Multidisciplinary interventions: Review of studies of return to work after rehabilitation for low back pain. Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine. 2009;41(3):115-21.
- Jensen I, Busch H, Bodin L, Hagberg J, Nygren Å, Bergström G. Cost effectiveness of two rehabilitation programmes for neck and back pain patients: A seven year follow-up. PAIN®. 2009;142(3):202-8.

- 151. Kuoppala J, Lamminpaa A. Rehabilitation and work ability: a systematic literature review. J Rehabil Med. 2008;40(10):796-804.
- 152. Stigmar KG, Petersson IF, Joud A, Grahn BE. Promoting work ability in a structured national rehabilitation program in patients with musculoskeletal disorders: outcomes and predictors in a prospective cohort study. BMC musculoskeletal disorders. 2013;14:57.
- 153. Andersen JH, Haahr JP, Frost P. Risk factors for more severe regional musculoskeletal symptoms: A two-year prospective study of a general working population. Arthritis Rheum. 2007;56(4):1355-64.
- 154. Alavinia SM, Van Den Berg TI, Van Duivenbooden C, Elders LA, Burdorf A. Impact of work-related factors, lifestyle, and work ability on sickness absence among Dutch construction workers. Scand J Work Environ Health. 2009:325-33.
- 155. van den Berg TIJ, Elders LAM, de Zwart BCH, Burdorf A. The effects of workrelated and individual factors on the Work Ability Index: a systematic review. Occup Environ Med. 2009;66(4):211-20.
- 156. Andersen J, Kaergaard A, Mikkelsen S, Jensen U, Frost P, Bonde J, et al. Risk factors in the onset of neck/shoulder pain in a prospective study of workers in industrial and service companies. Occup Environ Med. 2003;60(9):649-54.
- 157. Verhagen AP, Karels C, Bierma-Zeinstra SM, Feleus A, Dahaghin S, Burdorf A, et al. Ergonomic and physiotherapeutic interventions for treating work-related complaints of the arm, neck or shoulder in adults. A Cochrane systematic review. Eura Medicophys. 2007;43(3):391-405.
- 158. Hoe VCW, Urquhart DM, Kelsall HL, Zamri EN, Sim MR. Ergonomic interventions for preventing work-related musculoskeletal disorders of the upper limb and neck among office workers. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2018(10).
- 159. Wahlin C, Ekberg K, Persson J, Bernfort L, Oberg B. Evaluation of self-reported work ability and usefulness of interventions among sick-listed patients. Journal of occupational rehabilitation. 2013;23(1):32-43.
- 160. Waddell G, Burton AK. Is work good for your health and well-being?: The Stationery Office; 2006.
- 161. Burr H, Pedersen J, Hansen JV. Work environment as predictor of long-term sickness absence: linkage of self-reported DWECS data with the DREAM register. Scandinavian journal of public health. 2011;39(7_suppl):147-52.
- 162. Fadyl JK, McPherson KM, Schluter PJ, Turner-Stokes L. Factors contributing to work-ability for injured workers: literature review and comparison with available measures. Disabil Rehabil. 2010;32(14):1173-83.
- 163. Ilmarinen JE. Aging workers. Occup Environ Med. 2001;58(8):546-52.
- 164. Gould R, Ilmarinen J, Järvisalo J, Koskinen S. Dimensions of work ability. 2008.
- 165. Lederer V, Loisel P, Rivard M, Champagne F. Exploring the diversity of conceptualizations of work (dis) ability: a scoping review of published definitions. Journal of occupational rehabilitation. 2014;24(2):242-67.
- 166. Lindberg P. The work ability continuum : epidemiological studies of factors promoting sustainable work ability. Stockholm2006.

- 167. Escorpizo R, Cieza A, Beaton D, Boonen A. Content comparison of worker productivity questionnaires in arthritis and musculoskeletal conditions using the International Classification of Functioning, Disability, and Health framework. Journal of occupational rehabilitation. 2009;19(4):382.
- 168. Ilmarinen J, Tuomi K, Seitsamo J. New dimensions of work ability. International Congress Series. 2005;1280:3-7.
- 169. Allebeck P, Mastekaasa A. Chapter 5. Risk factors for sick leave-general studies. Scandinavian Journal of public health. 2004;32(63_suppl):49-108.
- 170. Hilla S, Olli P, Jouni L, Eero L, Ossi R. Sickness absence among young employees: trends from 2002 to 2013. Journal of occupational health. 2015:14-0236-OA.
- 171. Lund T, Labriola M, Villadsen E. Who is at risk for long-term sickness absence? A prospective cohort study of Danish employees. Work (Reading, Mass). 2007;28(3):225-30.
- Duijts SF, Kant I, Swaen GM, van den Brandt PA, Zeegers MP. A meta-analysis of observational studies identifies predictors of sickness absence. J Clin Epidemiol. 2007;60(11):1105-15.
- 173. Neovius K, Johansson K, Kark M, Neovius M. Obesity status and sick leave: a systematic review. Obes Rev. 2009;10(1):17-27.
- 174. Neovius K, Neovius M, Rasmussen F. The combined effects of overweight and smoking in late adolescence on subsequent disability pension: a nationwide cohort study. Int J Obes. 2010;34(1):75.
- 175. Voss M, Floderus B, Diderichsen F. Physical, psychosocial, and organisational factors relative to sickness absence: a study based on Sweden Post. Occup Environ Med. 2001;58(3):178-84.
- 176. Johns G. Presenteeism in the workplace: A review and research agenda. Journal of Organizational Behavior. 2010;31(4):519-42.
- 177. Haglund E, Bremander A, Bergman S, Jacobsson LT, Petersson IF. Work productivity in a population-based cohort of patients with spondyloarthritis. Rheumatology. 2013;52(9):1708-14.
- 178. Cullen KL, Irvin E, Collie A, Clay F, Gensby U, Jennings PA, et al. Effectiveness of Workplace Interventions in Return-to-Work for Musculoskeletal, Pain-Related and Mental Health Conditions: An Update of the Evidence and Messages for Practitioners. Journal of occupational rehabilitation. 2017.
- 179. Tjulin Å, Stiwne EE, Ekberg K. Experience of the implementation of a multistakeholder return-to-work programme. Journal of occupational rehabilitation. 2009;19(4):409.
- Franche R-L, Cullen K, Clarke J, Irvin E, Sinclair S, Frank J, et al. Workplace-based return-to-work interventions: a systematic review of the quantitative literature. Journal of occupational rehabilitation. 2005;15(4):607-31.
- 181. Wynne-Jones G, Artus M, Bishop A, Lawton SA, Lewis M, Jowett S, et al. Effectiveness and costs of a vocational advice service to improve work outcomes in patients with musculoskeletal pain in primary care: a cluster randomised trial (SWAP trial ISRCTN 52269669). Pain. 2018;159(1):128-38.

- 182. Linton SJ. Örebromanualen för screening av patienter med muskuloskeletala besvär : tidig identifiering av patienter i riskzonen för kronisk smärta [The "Orebro-manual" for screening of patients with musculoskeletal disorders: early identification of patients at risk for chronic pain]. [Örebro: Yrkes- och miljömedicinska kliniken, Regionsjukhuset i Örebro]; 1999.
- Bjelland I, Dahl AA, Haug TT, Neckelmann D. The validity of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale: an updated literature review. J Psychosom Res. 2002;52(2):69-77.
- 184. Glise K, Hadzibajramovic E, Jonsdottir I, Ahlborg G. Self-reported exhaustion: a possible indicator of reduced work ability and increased risk of sickness absence among human service workers. Int Arch Occup Environ Health. 2010;83(5):511-20.
- 185. Sennehed CP, Holmberg S, Axen I, Stigmar K, Forsbrand M, Petersson IF, et al. Early workplace dialogue in physiotherapy practice improved work ability at 1-year follow-up-WorkUp, a randomised controlled trial in primary care. Pain. 2018.
- 186. Karlson B, Jonsson P, Palsson B, Abjornsson G, Malmberg B, Larsson B, et al. Return to work after a workplace-oriented intervention for patients on sick-leave for burnout--a prospective controlled study. BMC Public Health. 2010;10:301.
- 187. The EuroQol Group. EuroQol-a new facility for the measurement of health-related quality of life. Health Policy. 1990;16(3):199-208.
- 188. Brooks R. EuroQol: the current state of play. Health Policy. 1996;37(1):53-72.
- 189. Greiner W, Weijnen T, Nieuwenhuizen M, Oppe S, Badia X, Busschbach J, et al. A single European currency for EQ-5D health states. The European Journal of Health Economics, formerly: HEPAC. 2003;4(3):222-31.
- 190. Dolan P. Modeling valuations for EuroQol health states. Med Care. 1997;35(11):1095-108.
- 191. Hansson E, Hansson T, Jonsson R. Predictors for work ability and disability in men and women with low-back or neck problems. European Spine Journal. 2006;15(6):780-93.
- 192. Bethge M, Spanier K, Peters E, Michel E, Radoschewski M. Self-Reported Work Ability Predicts Rehabilitation Measures, Disability Pensions, Other Welfare Benefits, and Work Participation: Longitudinal Findings from a Sample of German Employees. Journal of occupational rehabilitation. 2018;28(3):495-503.
- 193. El Fassi M, Bocquet V, Majery N, Lair ML, Couffignal S, Mairiaux P. Work ability assessment in a worker population: comparison and determinants of Work Ability Index and Work Ability score. BMC Public Health. 2013;13:305.
- 194. Ahlstrom L, Grimby-Ekman A, Hagberg M, Dellve L. The work ability index and single-item question: associations with sick leave, symptoms, and health--a prospective study of women on long-term sick leave. Scand J Work Environ Health. 2010;36(5):404-12.
- 195. Alavinia SM, de Boer AGEM, van Duivenbooden JC, Frings-Dresen MHW, Burdorf A. Determinants of work ability and its predictive value for disability. Occupational Medicine (Oxford). 2009;59(1):32-7.
- 196. Jääskeläinen A, Kausto J, Seitsamo J, Ojajarvi A, Nygård C-H, Arjas E, et al. Work ability index and perceived work ability as predictors of disability pension: a

prospective study among Finnish municipal employees. Scand J Work Environ Health. 2016:490-9.

- 197. Feise RJ, Menke JM. Functional Rating Index: literature review. Med Sci Monit. 2010;16(2):RA25-36.
- 198. Chan YH. Biostatistics 104: correlational analysis. Singapore medical journal. 2003;44(12):614-9.
- 199. Altman DG. Practical Statistics for Medical Research: CRC press; 1990.
- 200. Kirkwood B, Sterne J. Medical Statistics. 2nd. Oxford, England.: Blackwell Publishing; 2003.
- Hosmer Jr D, Lemeshow S, Sturdivant RX. Introduction to the Logistic Regression Model. Applied Logistic Regression. 2000.
- 202. Mehling WE, Avins AL, Acree MC, Carey TS, Hecht FM. Can a back pain screening tool help classify patients with acute pain into risk levels for chronic pain? Eur J Pain. 2015;19(3):439-46.
- 203. Soares I, Carneiro AV. Intention-to-treat analysis in clinical trials: principles and practical importance. Rev Port Cardiol. 2002;21(10):1191-8.
- 204. National Board of Health and Welfare. Klassifikation av vårdåtgärder (KVÅ) [Classification of surgical and medical procedures] [Internet]. In Swedish. Stockholm: National Board of Health and Welfare; 2019. [cited 2 Jan 2020]. Available from: https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/utveckla-verksamhet/ehalsa/klassificering-och-koder/kva/
- 205. Hemingway H, Croft P, Perel P, Hayden JA, Abrams K, Timmis A, et al. Prognosis research strategy (PROGRESS) 1: a framework for researching clinical outcomes. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2013;346:e5595.
- 206. Hingorani AD, Windt DA, Riley RD, Abrams K, Moons KG, Steyerberg EW, et al. Prognosis research strategy (PROGRESS) 4: stratified medicine research. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2013;346:e5793.
- 207. Foster NE, Mullis R, Hill JC, Lewis M, Whitehurst DG, Doyle C, et al. Effect of stratified care for low back pain in family practice (IMPaCT Back): a prospective population-based sequential comparison. Ann Fam Med. 2014;12(2):102-11.
- 208. Lheureux A, Berquin A. Comparison between the STarT Back Screening Tool and the Orebro Musculoskeletal Pain Screening Questionnaire: Which tool for what purpose? A semi-systematic review. Ann Phys Rehabil Med. 2018.
- 209. Suri P, Delaney K, Rundell SD, Cherkin DC. Predictive Validity of the STarT Back Tool for Risk of Persistent Disabling Back Pain in a U.S. Primary Care Setting. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation. 2018;99(8):1533-9.e2.
- Rasmussen-Barr E, Campello M, Arvidsson I, Nilsson-Wikmar L, Ang BO. Factors predicting clinical outcome 12 and 36 months after an exercise intervention for recurrent low-back pain. Disabil Rehabil. 2012;34(2):136-44.
- 211. George SZ, Fritz JM, Bialosky JE, Donald DA. The effect of a fear-avoidance-based physical therapy intervention for patients with acute low back pain: results of a randomized clinical trial. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2003;28(23):2551-60.

- 212. Hill JC, Vohora K, Dunn KM, Main CJ, Hay EM. Comparing the STarT back screening tool's subgroup allocation of individual patients with that of independent clinical experts. Clin J Pain. 2010;26(9):783-7.
- 213. Whitehurst DG, Bryan S, Lewis M, Hill J, Hay EM. Exploring the cost–utility of stratified primary care management for low back pain compared with current best practice within risk-defined subgroups. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2012;71(11):1796-802.
- 214. Rozenberg S, Foltz V, Fautrel B. Treatment strategy for chronic low back pain. Joint Bone Spine. 2012;79(6):555-9.
- 215. Caneiro JP, Roos EM, Barton CJ, O'Sullivan K, Kent P, Lin I, et al. It is time to move beyond 'body region silos' to manage musculoskeletal pain: five actions to change clinical practice. Br J Sports Med. 2019.
- 216. Mercieca-Bebber R, King MT, Calvert MJ, Stockler MR, Friedlander M. The importance of patient-reported outcomes in clinical trials and strategies for future optimization. Patient related outcome measures. 2018;9:353-67.
- 217. Schultz AB, Edington DW. Employee health and presenteeism: a systematic review. Journal of occupational rehabilitation. 2007;17(3):547-79.
- 218. Gupta N, Wahlin-Jacobsen CD, Abildgaard JS, Henriksen LN, Nielsen K, Holtermann A. Effectiveness of a participatory physical and psychosocial intervention to balance the demands and resources of industrial workers: A clusterrandomized controlled trial. Scand J Work Environ Health. 2017.
- 219. Chou L, Ranger TA, Peiris W, Cicuttini FM, Urquhart DM, Sullivan K, et al. Patients' perceived needs for medical services for non-specific low back pain: A systematic scoping review. PloS one. 2018;13(11):e0204885.
- 220. Gabbay M, Taylor L, Sheppard L, Hillage J, Bambra C, Ford F, et al. NICE guidance on long-term sickness and incapacity. Br J Gen Pract. 2011;61(584):e118-24.
- 221. Carroll C, Rick J, Pilgrim H, Cameron J, Hillage J. Workplace involvement improves return to work rates among employees with back pain on long-term sick leave: a systematic review of the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of interventions. Disabil Rehabil. 2010;32(8):607-21.
- 222. Englund M. Bout of the corner men and not the boxers? Contextual effects flex their muscles. Ann Rheum Dis. 2018;77(2):159-61.
- 223. Bondesson E, Larrosa Pardo F, Stigmar K, Ringqvist A, Petersson IF, Joud A, et al. Comorbidity between pain and mental illness - Evidence of a bidirectional relationship. Eur J Pain. 2018;22(7):1304-11.
- 224. Bier JD, Sandee-Geurts JJW, Ostelo R, Koes BW, Verhagen AP. Can Primary Care for Back and/or Neck Pain in the Netherlands Benefit From Stratification for Risk Groups According to the STarT Back Tool Classification? Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation. 2018;99(1):65-71
- 225. Statistics Sweden (SCB). [Internet]. In Swedish. [cited 2 Jan 2020]. Available from: http://www.statistikdatabasen.scb.se/pxweb/sv/ssd/.
- 226 Pepe MS. The statistical evaluation of medical tests for classification and prediction: Medicine; 2003.

227. Palacios-Cena D, Alonso-Blanco C, Hernandez-Barrera V, Carrasco-Garrido P, Jimenez-Garcia R, Fernandez-de-las-Penas C. Prevalence of neck and low back pain in community-dwelling adults in Spain: an updated population-based national study (2009/10-2011/12). European Spine Journal. 2015;24(3):482-92.

Physiotherapy in primary care for working-age patients with early back and neck pain



Malin Forsbrand is a registered physiotherapist with a Master of Science in Physiotherapy. She works in primary care, at Karlskrona Rehabcenter in Sweden, and has many years of experience in the care of individuals with back and neck pain from many different primary care centers. She also has a Credential Exam in Mechanical Diagnosis and Therapy.

Back and neck pain is very common, and is a troublesome condition for the individual and costly for society. There is need to better target the optimal intervention to the right person in order to optimize resources. Therefore, we have validated the STarT Back Tool in Swedish primary care, a brief questionnaire that can be used to identify patients at risk for long-term back pain and disability designed to tailor interventions. We found that it is a useful tool that can be used for patients with both back and neck pain. It can be used to allocate patients into low-, medium or high-risk groups of long-term pain and disability and can also be used to identify patients at risk for a poor long-term health-related quality of life and/or work ability outcome.

To prevent work disability, we need more knowledge on what interventions can promote work ability. Therefore, we have also studied if a structured workplace dialogue can promote self-reported function, health-related quality of life and work ability, in addition to structured physiotherapy. Although we found no impact of the workplace dialogue, earlier studies have shown less absence from work when adding a workplace dialogue to structured physiotherapy. The broad spectrum of interventions used by primary care physiotherapists for patients with back and neck pain in working-age are also described.



FACULTY OF MEDICINE

Department of Orthopaedics Clinical Sciences, Lund

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2020:19 ISBN 978-91-7619-879-7 ISSN 1652-8220

